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At AGF, we’ve taken change to heart. In this year’s annual
report, we profile our goals, our actions and the people
who are driving and implementing change across the
AGF organization. Building on a proud history and a solid
foundation, AGF is changing with the times, for the future,
for the better. /




Founded in 1957, AGF is one of Canada’s premier investment
management companies. We are in business to deliver excellence in
money management, a wide spectrum of products and outstanding

client service.

With $31.4 billion in total assets under management, AGF serves
more than one million investors with offerings across the wealth
continuum. Our family of over 50 mutual funds offers options across
investment styles, regions and sectors to meet the goals of any
investor. AGF's products and services also include AGF Harmony
tailored investment program, AGF Private Investment Management

and AGF Trust GICs, loans and mortgages.

Our relationship with more than 40,000 investment advisors
across Canada gives us a broad distribution platform that includes
full-service brokerages, planning firms, banks, discount brokerages

and insurance companies.

An independent, Canadian-owned company, AGF Management
Limited is listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange under the

symbol AGF.nv.

To learn more, visit us at AGF.com. /




message from the chairman

Two-thousand-and-four was a year of challenge and change for AGF.
In the face of adversity, we have emerged confident in our strong core

business with a team committed to winning.

Today’'s business environment is very different from when we founded this
company 47 years ago. Throughout our history, AGF has successfully
changed with the times and often ahead of the times. As an independent
and financially strong wealth management company, we have the agility
to meet challenges and adapt for the future. What will never change is
our commitment to delivering value and building growth — both for our

shareholders and our mutual fund investors.

Our success depends on providing excellence in money management
and service to advisors and the investors they represent. We invest with
consistency. We invest with expertise, experience and skill. We invest for

the long term.

It was an active year for our Board, as we approved a sweeping new
strategic plan for the company and reorganized our structure to ensure
that all committee chairs are independent from management. We are

committed to fostering success at all levels of AGF.

Change means opportunity, and we expect the initiatives we undertook

in 2004 to yield results in the year ahead. /

C. Warren Goldring

Chairman
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financial highlights
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letter to shareholders

“Building on our solid business, deep talent and financial strength,

we’ll do what it takes to grow AGF and deliver long-term value to

our shareholders.”

Our Vision for the New AGF

AGF has a strong and valuable business, with a

proud history geing back to 1957 and an enviable
track record of long-term growth. Over the years,
we have built a solid franchise driven by the pur-

suit of excellence in investment management.

Today, our values remain the same. But as the
environment arcund us has shifted dramatically,

we reccgnize the need for bold acticn as we regain

our position as one of this country’s premier
investment management firms. That's why yvou'll
see a new AGF as we revitalize our organization at
every level in the coming year.

The changes are already well underway, and there
are more to come. Building on our foundation of
strong fund performance, we are committed to
stimulating new sales, gaining market share,
growing our assets under management and
delivering long-term value to cur shareholders.




AGF Managament Limited ¢ Annual Report 2004

Blake C. Goldring, CFA

President and Chief Executive Officer




letter to shareholders

Achievements in Fiscal 2004

Restructured Qur Business
to Better Serve Advisors

We made a key decision in early 2004 to retool AGF
Funds Inc. in order to deliver industry-leading
service to our clients. Qur goal is to take “client-
centric” to a whole new level in the investment
management business. To accomplish this, we are
integrating the functions of sales and marketing,
and introducing a new internal structure that
focuses on building relationships and increasing
sales penetration across channels.

We expanded our sales force by 25 per cent to
ensure greater coverage across all sales regions
in Canada. And we undertook a comprehensive
review of our entire range of investment praducts
to ascertain how we can be more competitive and
more responsive to advisor and investor needs.
Early in 2005, we began to launch new products
and enhancements that are the result of this
important audit.

In addition, we are implementing one of the most
advanced customer relationship managemant
(CRM] systems in the investment industry, which
will allow cur sales teams to meet their clients
armed with greater understanding and ready to

deliver more value.

The combined power of these initiatives represents
a new platform for rebuilding relationships with

our key target market — investment advisors.

Renewed Qur Leadership Team

This year, we recruited top industry professionals
to join the AGF team in a number of key positions.
To lead the renewed sales charge, we appointed
Randy Ambrosie to the newly created position of
Executive Vice-President, Sales and Marketing.
Randy has extensive experience in the industry and
an outstanding track record building relationships
in the financial services industry. He has accom-
plished an enormous amount in a short time, and
now heads a revitalized team of top performers.

Early in the year, we appointed Merri Jones as
President and Chief Executive Officer of AGF
Private Investmeant Management. Merri's mandate
is to build a national network of high-net-worth
investment firms far AGF PIM while maintaining an
intense focus on meeting client needs. She has
already met success with the comapletion of twe
acquisitions in key markets.

| am also pleased to welceme Greg Hendersen as
Chief Financiat Qfficer. Greg has more than 20 years
of experience in finance and will be a strong asset
in building AGF’s long-term growth and profitability.
He succeeds Bill Cameron, who has retired from
his position as CFO after 3% years of dedicated
service to AGF. We will continue to benefit frem Bill's
experience as he remains in an advisory capacity
tc AGF for the next two years. On behalf of the entire
management team and Board of Directors, | thank
Bill for his key role in building this company.




Bolstered Financial Strength

We have a robust financial foundation, and in 2004
we built on that strength. Qur business generates
substantial operating cash flow and through prudent
management we have maintained a healthy balance
sheet. Contributing to this strength is our judicious
use of operating cash over the past several years.
In 2002, we made significant acquisitions to build
cur business. In 2003, we reduced our long-term
debt by $114 million. And in 2004, we shored up
our financial foundation and increased shareholder
returns by repurchasing two millicn shares, paying
down $54.2 million in long-term debt and raising
the dividend by 39.0 per cent. As we enter 2005, we
have ample flexibility to execute ocur vision for the
long-term benefit of sharehelders.
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AGF overcame a challenging environment to deliver
solid financial results in fiscal 2004, Total assets
under management rose 11.2 per cent ta $31.4 billicn,
up from $28.2 billion from 2003. For the year ended
November 30, 2004, revenue was $639.9 mitlion, up

6.5 per cent compared with $600.8 million last year.
Cash flow from operations declined 0.4 per cent to
$207.8 million, or $2.26 per share diluted, from
$208.5 million or $2.25 per share diluted in 2003. Net
income was $77.3 million, compared with $44.0 million
or $0.47 per share basic in the prior year. The increase
in net income was in part due to a decline in income
tax expense from $73.2 million in 2003 ta $7.4 million
in 2004. The fiscal 2003 tax expense included a

$40.2 million cne-time charge related to the change
in future Ontaric income tax rates.

Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and
amortization (EBITDA] were $252.5 million, a decline
of 11.2 per cent from $284.3 million in fiscal 2003 due
predominantly to costs of $31.0 million recorded in
the fourth quarter related to an agreement with the
Ontario Securities Commission, and a $12.8 million
gain on disposition of an associated company
recorded in fiscal 2003. Excluding these amounts,
EBITDA increased by 4.4 per cent in fiscal 2004 as
cempared with fiscal 2003.

Delivered Leading Fund Performance

We celebrated a number of successes on the oper-
ational front this year. Our investment management
teamn continues to demonstrate that experience and
focus pay off. With investment products across the
wealth continuum and the ability to serve investors
at every stage of life, AGF has one of the broadest
selections for advisors and investors. We have

more than 50 mutual funds across investment
styles, regions and categeries. Our diverse line-up of
award-winning investment managers includes both

in-house managers and external sub-advisors.




letter to shareholders

AGF's long-term performance Is among the best in
the industry. Fully é2 per cent of cur mutual fund
assets performed ahove the median over five years
as of November 30, 2004, and 75 per cent ware
above the median over 10 years.

AGF International Advisors Company Limited
[AGFIAJ, our Dublin-based subsidiary, won the
award for best five-year performance warldwide

in European equities at the Asian/nvestor magazine
2004 Awards for Achievement. AGFIA also ranked
second in an independent survey on behalf of

The Financial Times of top-performing money
managers worldwide, In the category of European
aquity, AGFIA was second over three years and
fourth over five years.

Once again, AGF's skill in generating gains for our
clients was recognized at the Canadian investment
Awards for 2004, which honour top performance
and long-term resulis. AGF Global Government
Bend Fund, managed by Clive Coombs and Scott
Colbourne, was named Bes! Foreign Bond Fund for
the third straight year. AGFIA took home the Best
Financial Services Equity Fund award for AGF Global
Financial Services Class, managed hy AGFIA's Rory
Flynn. The Precious Metals Equity Fund of ihe Year
went to AGF Precious Metals Fund, managed by
Bob Farguharson and Charles Oliver.

Built Our Product Offering

Qur strategic planning in 2004 has yielded results
early in 2009. Subsequent to year-end, we unveiled
a series of preduct enhancements and new product
launches designed to meet the changing needs of
aur clients. These include twa new yield-generating
funds — AGF Monthly High Income Fund and AGF
Diversified Dividend Income Fund, a low-load
purchase option for our mutual funds, more frequent

and higher distributions on two core balanced funds,

and streamlining of the fund line-up, including
manager changes on five funds and expanding the
role of top-performing AGFIA.

Harmony, AGF's tailored investment program,
broke sales records this year as it emerged as a
ctear leader in the high-end wrap category. We call
Harmeny a “retail pension fund” because it offers
investors benefits generally reserved for the
largest pensicn investors. Through our exclusive
portfolios managed by some of the world's hest
investment firms, Harmony wraps personalized
portfoliv management into a single account.

This year Harmeny was one of the fastest-growing
wrap programs in Canada. Assets under manage-
ment rose to $884 million from $522 million, a
growth of 49 per cent, and we're well on track tc
hit $1 billion before the end of RSP season. Gross
sales for the year rose 63 per cent to $453 million.
We increased the depth and breadth of our sales
penetration, with the number of advisors cffering
Harmony to their clients rising 41.5 per cent over
last year.

Harmony is defined by the flexibility and choice it
offers advisors and investors. We enhanced our
offering with expanded purchase options and the
launch of Harmony Portfolios, a fund-of-funds
structure that offers a complete portfolio in a
single purchase. We delivered on our commitment
to excellence in money management by introducing
four new sub-advisors. Each manager was
carefully chosen for its track record of consistent
outperfarmance.

It was alsoa banner year for AGF Private
Investment Management (PIM), which is now one
of Canada’s largest independent discretionary wealth
management firms. We delivered on our commit-
ment to grow AGF PIM with two key additions.
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We acquired P.J. Doherty & Associates, Ottawa's
leading high-net-worth investment counselling
firm, and Cypress Capital Management Ltd., a
leader in the Vancouver private client market. As
of November 30, 2004, AGF PIM has $4.7 billion in
assets under management and offices in the key
markets of Montreal, Ottawa, Toronto, Calgary
and Vancouver.

AGF Trust also continues to set new reccrds for growth
by any measure. Total assets grew 40.4 per cent over
last year, with mortgages up 32.7 per cent and con-
sumer loans soaring 51.1 per cent. The number of
advisors offering AGF Trust products rose 24 per cent
cornpared with last year, and we grew our penetration
in virtually every channel. AGF Trust’s revenue for
the year endad Novermnber 30, 2004 was $42.4 million,
up 18.7 per cent from $35.9 million last year. Pre-tax
inceme rose 81.1 per cent tc $9.9 million. AGF Trust's
products allow advisors 1o expand their offering to
clients, and also help drive sales of AGF mutual funds.

Competing in the New Landscape

While we celebrated wins cn a number of fronts in
fiscal 2004, we also began the process of changing
cur cempany to significantly strengthen our com-
petitive position in the new landscape.

The past few years have been remarkable for our
industry in a variety of ways. AGF has a hard-earned,
top reputation as an equity manager, and we have
a comparatively large percentage of assets in
international equities. Due to a number of cyclical
factors, including a long bear market on the heels
of the technology meltdown and followed by declining
interest rates, investors have turned to fixed income
and yield-producing products. Despite the strong
performance of our international funds, our sales
were hampered by the cycle. While we have expanded
our product line-up to include a broader selection
of income preducts, we will also benefit when the

rotation back to equities cccurs.

During the year, AGF also cooperated with the
Ontarioc Securities Commission as it undertcok a
review of a trading practice known as market timing,
employed by a small number of investors from
2000 to 2003. Although market timing is not illegal,
AGF, along with three cther companies, agreed to
pay cempensation to any unitholders who were
disadvantaged by this practice. AGF will pay

$29.2 million, excluding expenses, which has been
taken as a charge against fiscal 2004 earnings.

In reviewing market timing, the 05C made it clear
that this was an industry-wide rmatter and not an
ongoing issue. They also stated that they found no
evidence of market timing by AGF employees.

More than cne year prior to the 0SC agreement,
AGF veluntarily put in place measures to protect its
funds against market timing. It was certainly never
our intention that investors be disadvantaged by
these trading practices. For 47 years, we have
served our clients to the highest professional and
ethical standards. We are committed to practising
even greater vigilance to protect our funds for long-
term investors now and in the future.

The foundation cf our business is trust. We appreciate
the trust investors place in us, and we are committed
to earning it every day. AGF was a pioneer in mutual
fund corporate governance. Nearly 20 years ago,
we were one of the first in the industry to form a
board of trustees for mutual fund trusts ta repre-
sent the best interests of unitholders. AGF's mutual
fund boards have a majority of independent
trustees and are separate from the board of AGF
Management Limited. During the year, we further
strengthened our mutual fund beards with the
addition of highly regarded global economist

David Hale as a trustee.




letter Lo shareholders

Toward the New AGF:
Strategic Priorities for the Year Ahead

1. Reinforce investment management excellence
We take great pride in our commitment to unpar-
atleled portfolio management. We won a number
of honours in 2004, including awards for our fund
management expertise and new institutional
rmandates from intarnational clients. Wins like
these come from the skill of our people and cur
processes. To sustain this competitive advantage,
we will continue to invest in the people and
operations that drive our success.

Our effcrts are focused on maximizing perform-
ance and delivering industry-leading products
across the board. The next step is to improve our
communication with clients to increase their
understanding of our process and track record.

2. Foster a client-centric organization focused

on multi-channel distribution
At AGF, we aim to be an organization that adds
value for our adviscrs and helps make their business
g success. That means listening to what our clients
want. We will deliver solutions that meet their cur-

rent needs and anticipate their future requirements.

We already have one of the broadest distribution
platforms, serving ptanners, brokers, dealers,
insurance companies and banks. Our goal is to be
among the top four firms for investment advisors
in every channel. We have already begun the
strategic, bread-based and sustainable changes to
achieve that goal.

[n this business, independence is a virtue. AGF's
competitive edge will come from our ability as an
independent firm to act quickly and decisively to
serve our clients. By delivering top products that
advisors want to sell and investors want to own, we

will win business as a partner and a trusted source,

3. Build aur support entities
Core support entities are Unisen Inc., Investmaster
Group Ltd., and Smith & Williamson Holdings Ltd.

Unisen Inc. is & leader in back-office outsourcing to
the Canadian fund industry. Over the last few years
and through a combination of acquisitions and
organic growth, we have built the business into a
profitable, stand-alone company. Based in Mississauga,
Cntario, and guided by a separate management team,
Unisen emzloys the gold standard in processing
software in the indusiry. New strategic initiatives
include the ability to provide service guality, innova-
tive products, and building on Unisen’s market-lead-
ing IT platform.

We believe the outlook for Unisen is positive given its
strong market position. This is supported by the rise
in administrative outsourcing in the investment fund
business, with Canada yet to catch up to the United
States and Europe.

AGF also owns 100 per cent of U.K.-based
Investmaster Group Ltd., which handles 25 per cent
of the Lendon Stock Exchange’s daily private client
volumes. Investmaster’s acquisition of Consort
Information Systems in 2003 means that the group
now has the greatest and most diverse number of
users of wealth management solutiens in the UK.

Also in the U.K., AGF holds a 31.6 per cent interest
in Smith & Williamson Heldings Ltd., one the largest
integrated and independent private client firms.

Through these support entities, we bring diversifica-
tion and add value to our core business.




4. Pursue strategic acquisitions to supplement
organic growth

AGF is steadfast in cur strategy to grow our business
organically while seeking strategic acquisitions. Our
management team has a track record of acquiring
strong companies and integrating them into our
operations. We will continue to evaluate opportunities
from a financial and operstional standpcint with an
eye to increasing shareholder value. Qur criteria are
straightforward: acquisitions must add value to our
offering and have strong synergies with cur business,
as well as provide a solid return on investment for our
sharehclders. We expect a long-term after-tzx return
from investrments in excess cf 15 per cent.

While there are many oppertunities for consolidation
in the market teday, the environment is particularly
campetitive for acquisitions. However, AGF has the
financial strength to add scale te our mutuat fund
business through a strategic acquisition, and the
will to act on the right opportunity. Building on the
successful integration of our two high-net-worth
management acquisitions this year, we also see
potential for AGF in the area of private wealth
management, which tends to be a fragmented and
regionalized sector.

Measuring Our Success

Conditions remain uncertain in our industry as we
enter 2005, While eguity markets have rebounded,
investors continue to seek inccme- and yield-pro-
ducing investments. The outlook for the Canadian
and global economies is healthy, though tempered
somewhat by the strength of the Canadian dollar.
On the heels of our positive changes, AGF is well-
positionad to teke advantage of market cycles.

R, ¢ S

As we evaluate our success, the managemeant
team and the Board of Directors at AGF will look
for growth in the fellowing measures:

'/ Revenue and earnings
/ Return on equity
/ Assets under management
/ Net sales
- Rank among advisors
/ Sales penetration
{ Market share
« / Brand loyalty

Throughout 2005 we will focus on improving our
performance on each cf these value drivers. A
great deal of work lies ahead, but | am confident
that we are on the way to reclaiming our rightful
place as a clear leacder in our industry. AGF is chang-
ing. And we are becoming a stronger competitor that
warks to win.

A Few Words of Thanks

Change takes effort, and effort comes not from organi-
zations, but from people. ! would like to acknowledge
and thank all the employeas of AGF, who have worked
very hard to implement new initiatives and position the
company for renewed growth. I'd also like to thank the
Board of Directors for its 2nergy and valued counsat
througheut the year.

To our shareholders, we appreciate your support
and confidence in AGF as we focus on delivering

long-term growth. | lock forward te new achieve-
ments and success in 2005.

Sincerely,

Blake C. Goldring, CFA

President and Chief Executive Officer

==z e R




AGF Financial Management

AGF is changing our approach to financial manage-
ment to become more proactive and aggressive in
identifying opportunities and efficiencies. We began
this process in 2004 with a number of initiatives to
increase returns to shareholders and build value,
AGF increased the quarterly dividend payments
this year by 39.0 per cent, to 0.41 cents from

0.295 cents. Since 1997, we have increased the
quarterly dividend at a compound annual growth
rate of 24 per cent. As of November 30, 2004, the
dividend yield on AGF Class B non-voting shares is
2.8 per cent. We also repurchased 2,099,800 AGF
Class B non-voting shares during 2004, demonstrating
our confidence in the future of the company.

Qur approach to financial management has always
been o balance long-term growth with healthy
fiscal prudence. We made two sirategic acquisi-
tions for $38.3 million to strengthen AGF Private
Investment Management, and we believe these
investments will deliver excellent value in building
the business. During fiscal 2004, we paid down
$54.2 million of long-term debt, and our debt-to-
equity ratio now stands at a conservative 0.08:1.

AGF's total assets under management rose 11.2
per cent during the year to $31.4 billicn, thanks ta
cur strong performance in fund management. As a
result, we were able to deliver healthy profits and
free cash flow for the year. We intend to use our
financial flexibility to invest in delivering industry-
leading client service, revitalizing sales and
making strategic acquisitions that support our

business and add value for shareholders.

Over the long term, AGF Class B non-voting shares
continue to deliver strong shareholder value. For
the 10-year period ended November 30, 2004, the
total return on AGF Class B non-veting shares is
22.5 per cent.

Use of free cash flow

1% millions)

140 —

B Debt Reduction
Dividends
B Acquisitions

B Zhare Repurchases




Achievements in 2004 Priorities for 2005

! Increased returns to shareholders through AGF's priorities for the year ahead are clear.
increased dividend payments and share We will continue to invest in organic growih,
buybacks identifying operating efficiencies and maintaining

{/ Increased dividends by 39.0 per cent our focus on cost containment. At the same time,

{ Repurchased 2,099,800 AGF Class B we will support the efforts currently underway to
non-voting shares become a truly client-centric organization that is

/ Paid down $54.2 million in long-term debt a top choice for invesiment advisors across Canada.

{ Made two acquisitions for a total of
%38.3 million

We will alsc continue to identify and pursue
strategic acquisiticns that help grow our business
and deliver solid long-term returns for share-
holders. We intend to increase those returns by
further buying back shares to the extent our stock
price affords the opportunity, and continuing to
pay dividends at a ratio that returns value.

"AGF enjoys an extremely strong balance sheet with robust cash
flows, despite the challenges we faced in net sales. The company
is well-positioned to use its financial strength to build the business

and increase returns to shareholders.”

Greg Henderson, CA
Chief Financial Officer
AGF Management Limited
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AGF Investment Management

AGF is changing the way we communicate our phi-
losophy and our approach. We're proud of our fund
line-up, our expertise and our performance, and
we are committed to working closely with sales
and marketing to highlight our successes, explain
our process and manage new products. Advisors
and investors deserve to know they are buying
funds from a global team with an excelient track
record.

AGF's broad line-up of mutual funds offers cptions
across investment styles, regions and market
sectors tc meet the goals of any investor, Whether
managing growth, value, specialty or fixed income
funds, we are driven by five basic principles:

1/ Fundamental research

2/ Global perspective

3/ Long-term focus

%/ Innovative thinking

5/ Accountability and risk control

These principles have served us well. AGF's long-
term fund performance is among the best in the
industry, with 75 per cent of cur assets performing
above the median for the 10-year period ended
November 30, 2004. Our strength cuts across
investment styles, sectors and geography. For
example, funds that were first-quartile performers
for the year ended November 30 span mandates
from international equity, Canadian equity, Canadian
balanced and U.5. value fc emerging markets and
precious metals.

AGF’s money management expertise is gaining
recognition beyond mutual funds and beyond North
America. Inaddition to managing portfolios for
institutional accounts in Canada, AGF has interna-
tional investment management mandates for global
organizations. In December 2004, we won three
overseas mandates totalling approximately

CDN $900 million. The mandates are for Canadian
equity, European equity and precious metals,
showcasing our range of strength. We intend to
capitalize on this success in 2005,

to win




Achievements in 2004

{ Won top honours at the 2004 Canadian
Investment Awards for Best Foreign Bond
Fund, Best Financial Services Equity Fund and
the Precious Metals Equity Fund of the Year
</ Won the award for best five-year performance
worldwide in European equities at the
Asianinvestor 2004 Awards for Achievement
! Rarked second worldwide for European
equities in an independent survey conducted on
behalf of fhe Financial Times of top-performing
money managers
-/ Won three internaticnal mandates worth
$900 million

Priorities for 2005

AGF's investment management group will

maintain a focus on delivering industry-beating
returns in 2005. Our commitment to performance
means we will continually evaluate each of our
funds, and make changes as necessary to ensure
we have the best managers on each mandate. We
have always believed it's impertant to invest in
recruiting, nurturing and training the right people,
and this remains a priority for us In the year ahead.

Building on the momentum of our international
mandate wins, we will continue to pursue opportu-
nities te win mandates and apply cur skills, whether
in North America or abroad. And we will work
closely with the sales and marketing team to
articulate cur success and communicate clearly,
fully and frequently with the investment advisors

we serve.

"AGF has a team of 40 investment professionals in Toronto,

Dublin and Singapore, supported by external sub-advisors
around the globe. With this size, we are nimble enough to
react quickly to changing investment situations, yet large
enough to deliver portfolic management expertise that

stacks up with the best in the world.”

Clive Coombs
Executive Vice-President
AGF Management Limited




AGF Sales and Marketing

AGF is changing dramatically to focus completety
on meeting the needs of investment adviscrs. Our
goal is to make sure AGF is cne of the top four
firms for advisors. To achieve that, we are listening
te what our clients want, and making sure we have
the experience, resources and processes to deliver
— better than anybedy else.

The process started in the summer of 2004 with the
integration and reorganization of sales and market-
ing into one team, working together to create a client
experience that is second to none. The restructuring
has been hottorn-up and top-down, based on results
and accountability. We have expanded our sales
farce by 25 per cent to ensure better coverage,
stronger relationships and deeper penetration.

We rearganized the sales teams to ensure each
region has a defined strategy, clear targets and
strong support.

To ensure our success across multiple channels,
we reorganized the marketing teams fc focus on
delivering selutions tailered for each channel. Key
to delivering outstanding client service is the ability
to truly understand each client. In fiscal 2004, we
completed the implementation of a customer rela-
tionship management (CRM) system that puts us
at the forefront of the industry. When our sales
teams meet with clients, they will be ready to deliver

added value based on each client’s business.

As always, sales will be powered by AGF's strong
fund performance and broad selection of products.
Subsequent to year-end, we responded to client
needs with the introduction of more yield-generating
oroducts — AGF Menthly High Income Fund and
AGF Diversified Dividend Income Fund. We also
offered a low-load purchase option for our mutual
funds and more frequent and higher distributions

on two core balanced funds.

AGF’s value to clients alse comes frem our independ-
ence. We will earn shelf space and loyalty by
delivering top quality products, broad product
selection, value-addecd programs and outstanding
client service. Our agility means we can respond
quickly to new trends in the market. To capitalize
on this strength, we have an expert team dedicated
to rigorous research that will help us anticipate
trends, communicate our product offering and develop
new products. We are fully committed to increasing
net sales, market share and client satisfaction.

changing




Achievements in 2004

« / Began integration of sales and marketing into
one unified department focused cn serving
advisors

= { Expanded sales force by 25% to deliver wider
coverage and deeper penetration

= / Restructured sales force to deliver better client
service and focus cn accountability

</ Improved our marketing capabilitics to focus

more on multi-channel effort

</ Developed new products and enhanced existing

preducts for roll-out in 2005

“ABF has a solid plan to win business by building

a client-centric organization that won't be beat. As an
independent firm, we have the agillty to meet evolving
client needs while maintaining a focus on discipline

and real accountability throughout the organization.”

Randy Ambrosie

Executive Vice-President, Sales and Marketing -
AGF Funds Inc.

AGF Management Limited / Annual Repari 2004

Priorities for 2005

In 2004 we laid the foundation; in 2005 we'll build
the frame that delivers sales growth. Our first
priority is to comgplete the department restructuring
already underway as we work toward creating a
customer experience that is second to none. We
will finalize the integration of sales and marketing,
and refine our CRM system on an ongoing basis (o
derive the maximum benefits.

We are also wholeheartedly committed to enhancing
our product and service offerings in 2005. We've
already launched new products and there are more
to cormne. We are investing time and resources into
developing more value-added programs to help
advisors build their business and serve their
clients. The success of these efforts comes down
to our ability to clearly communicate AGF's strong
performance record and unique product offering.
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AGF Private Investiment Management

AGF Private Investment Management is changing
administrative infrastructure to deliver better
reporting and client service with improved cpera-
tional efficiency. Some things, however, never
change — and at AGF PIM, that is our dedication
to investrment management.

AGF PIM is one of Canada’s largest independant
discretionary wealth management firms. Offering
fully customized portfolios with a focus cn personal
service, we manage portfolios for individuals, estates,
pension funds, endowments and corperaticns. We are
committed to producing strong, steady investment
returns that meet the individual investment goals
and tax considerations of each invester.

Following the acquisitions of P.J. Doherty &
Associates Co. Lid. in Ottawa and Cypress Capital
Management Ltd. in Vancouver, combined with the
existing Magna Vista Asset Management office in
Monireal, AGF PIM now has broad caverage across
Canada, including locations in Toronto and Calgary.

AGF PIM's strength comes from its boutique philos-
ophy. With each acquisition, we have maintained
the investment professionals, trusted brand name,
unigue offerings and local presence while leveraging
the strength of AGF. High-net-worth clienis benefit
from direct, personal contact with their local
investment counsellor, comhined with access 1o a
broad range of investment expertise across the
country. Building on the momentum of 2004, AGF
PIM is weil-positioned to grow its business in the
year ahead.

changinc

“AGF Private Investmant Management doubled its assets
under management last year. It is set to become Canada’s
pre-eminent investment counselling boutigue by providing
expert and personalized investment management servic-

es to high-net-worth clients.”

} Merri Jones
President & Chief Executive Officer
AGF Private Investment Management Limited



Achievements in 2004

[ Expanded national presence with two key acquisi-
tions: P.J. Doherty & Associates Co. Lid., Ottawa’s
leading high-net-worth investment counselling
firm, and Cypress Capital Management Ltd., a
Vancouver-based leader in the same field

-/ Built platforms and distinctive business growth
strategies for Magna Vista, P.J. Doherty &
Associates Co. Ltd. and Cypress Capital
Management Ltd.

« [ Increased assets under management to
$4.7 billicn

nro
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Priarities for 2005

On the heels of a successful year for PIM, in 2005
we will focus on completing the integration of our
acquisitions and improving operations. We intend
to grow our business across markets, achieving a
growth rate that outpaces the industry and

increasing profitability.

To do that, we will use a boutique approach,
investing in the identity and marketing cf each
local investment management firm we've
acguired. The unigue combination of skills builds
value for AGF PIM and its clients. At the same
time, we will standardize best practices across all
offices and work to foster an environment of pro-
fessicnalism, innovation, knowledge sharing and

partnerships.



AGF Trust

AGF Trust is changing its internal processes and
resources to meet the demands of size and
growth. |t has added a dedicated sales team to
serve existing custemers, increase penetration
into mortgage and advisor channels and broaden
distribution through new channels. In additicon,
AGF Trust has reorganized operations te increase
efficiency and deliver top customer service.

AGF Trust offers mortgages, investment loans,
RSP loans, and both non-registered and registered
term deposit products through mortgage brokers,
investment advisers, insurance brokers and partner
institutions. Once again, the business grew sales in
each category significantly, while alsc adding value
to the wide network of advisors who do business
with AGF Funds.

"There is tremendous opportunity to continue
the extraordinary growth of AGF Trust. This

is particularly true in the mortgage broker
channel, where our early success indicates lots
of market share petential, and in the advisor
channel, where as a leader and innovator we

expect to increase our penetration.”

Mario Causarano, CA
President & Chief Operating Officer
AGF Trust Company

Innovation and customer focus drive everything we
do at AGF Trust. Subsequent to year-end, we were
the first in the industry to offer an RESP loan that
can be allocated to an AGF RESP, allowing parents
to take advantage of unused RESP contribution
and Canada Education Savings Grant amounts. We
are committed to delivering new solutions to mest
custaomer needs and centinuing to grow our market
share. During the year, we became an alternative
mortgage lender to one of Canada’'s major banks,
and will continue to pursue profitable partnerships
that can help build our business.

.



AGF Management Limited / Annual Report 2004

Achievements in 2004 Priorities for 2005

= [ Achieved after-tax return on equity of 15.2% AGF Trust's greatest priority is to continue its track

« / Generated year-over-year net growth in assets record of strong business growth. Our cbjectives are
of 40.4% to generate strong year-over-year net asset growth,

- / Increased the number of advisors affering and increase our profitability — measured specifically
AGF Trust products by 24% by after-tax income and return on equity — in line
« { Contained specific loss provisions on uninsured with previous years. We will also continue to manage

mortgages at 0%, on non-margin investment risk prudently, containing specific loss provisions

loans at 0% and on RSP loans at G.7% or lower once again to comfortably low levels through disci-

| o lined | derwriting.
+ | Advanced approximately $125 mitlion in ptned toan underwriting

mortgages, more than double the 2003 level Our goals are to increase penetration in all our dis-
* /Increased net monthly mortgage balances from  tribution channels. To grow our mortgage business,
$2 million per month to $15 million per month  we will increase our geographic reach and grow our
« [ Increased the number of channels offering AGF  martgage sales force in 2005 to expand relaticnships
Trust products, including advisors and insurance  with mortgage brokers. Our success also comes
representatives, and expanded in the mortgage  from our ability to respond to customer demands. We
broker channel will continue to launch new and innovative products
+ / Increased operating efficiency through the that meet our partners’ needs.
deployment of web-based applications
+/ Added z dedicated sales force to focus on the
needs of our distribution partners

changing for results
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Caution Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

This Management's Discussion and Analysis includes forward-locking statements about the Company, including its business aperations,
strategy and expected financial performance and condition. Forward-loeking statements include statemnents that are predictive in nature,
depend upon or refer to future events or conditions, or include words such as “expects,” “anticipates,” “intends,” "plans,” "believes,” or
negative versions thereof and similar expressions. [n addition, any statement that may be made concerning future financial performance
lincluding revenues, earnings or growth rates), engeing business strategies or prospects, and possible future action on gur part, is also a
forward-looking statement. Forward-looking statements are based on current expectations and projections about future events and are
inherently subject to, among other things, risks, uncertainties and assumptions abeut our operations, economic facters and the financial
services industry generally. They are not guarantees of future performance, and aclual events and results could differ materially from
those expressed or implied by forward-looking statements made by us due to, but not limited to, important factors such as general eco-
nomic, political and market factors in North America and internaticnally, interest and foreign exchange rates, glabal equity and capital
markets, business competition, technological change, changes in government regutations, unexpected judicial or regulatory proceedings,
catastrophic events and our ability to complete strategic transactions and integrate acquisitions. We caution that the foregoing list is not
exhaustive, The reader is cautioned to consider these and ather factors carefully and not place undue reliance on forward-looking stale-
ments. We are under no obligation (and expressly disclaim any such obligation) to update or alter the forward-logking statements whether
as a result of new information, future events or otherwise. Please see the "Factors that May Affect Future Results” section for a further
discussion of factors that may affect actual results.
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Consolidated Performance

Overview

Management’'s Discussion and Analysis ["MD&A’) presents an analysis of the financial condition of AGF Management Limited
and its subsidiaries as at November 30, 2004 compared with November 30, 2003, and the results of operations for the year
ended Novermnber 30, 2004 compared with the corresponding period of 2003. This discussion should be read in conjunction
with our audited Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes for 2004.

Througheut this discussion, percentage changes are calculated based on results rounded to the nearest thousand.
Results, except per share informatien, are presented in millions of dollars.

AGF Management Limited ["AGF"), with over $31.4 billion in Assets Under Management ("AUM"], is one of Canada’s
largest independent mutual fund and investment management companies with operations in Canada, England, Ireland,
Singapcre, China and Japan. We commenced operations in 1957 with one of the first mutual funds available to Canadians wish-
ing to invest internationally, and as at November 30, 2004 offered over 50 mutual funds to investment advisors and their clients.

While the Canadian mutual fund business remains the mainstay of cur business, representing 72.5% of AUM, a growing
portion cf our revenues is now being earned fram institutional and private investment management AUM.

As at November 30, 2004, institutional and private investment management AUM grew to $8.6 billion, an Increase of
70.7% over November 30, 2003. Much of this increase was attributakle to the acquisitions of P.J. Doherty & Associates and
Cypress Capital Management Ltd. during the year. With 27.5% of our AUM coming from investment management relationships
outside of the traditienal mutual fund business, we are a much more diversified organization from an invesiment management
perspective as compared to prior years. Our business diversity and mix of investment products positions us well for future
growth opportunities.

For purposes of this discussion, the operations of AGF Management Limited and cur subsidiary companies are referred
to as "we,” "us,” “our” or the "Company.” The financial results relating to the aperations have been reparted in three segments:
Investment Management Operations, Fund Adminisiration Operations and Trust Company Operations.

The principal subsidiaries and associated companies included within each of our reportable segments, which are collec-
tively referenced as the AGF Group of Companies ("the AGF Group™], include:

Investment Management Operations Segment

AGF Funds Inc. ("AGFFI"] - provides investment management and advisory services and is responsible for the sales and
marketing of the AGF mutual funds. Based on AUM, AGF Funds Inc. is one of the larger mutual fund organizations in Canada.
We mznage approximately 50 mutual funds totaling $22.7 billion in AUM. In addition, we manage international and domestic
AUM through ar under separate investment management mandates totaling $3.9 billisn. In certain instances these mandates
are advised by or managed directly by international operations listed below.

AGF Private Investment Management Limited ("PIM”) - pravides personalized investment counselling services for high-net-
worth clients, estates, endowments, institutions and corporations. With the completion of the acquisitions of P.J. Doherty &
Associates Co. Ltd. ["P.J. Deherty”] for consideration of $12.2 million on January 13, 2004, and Cypress Capital Management
Ltd. [“Cypress”] for consideration of $26.1 million on June 30, 2004, we now have a national network of high-net-worth
investment firms with total AUM of $4.7 billion.
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AGF International Advisors Company Limited - Dublin-based and established in 1991, this operation provides investment
research and advisory services on European and other international markets for the AGF mutual funds and other clients. In
addition, they also have investment management mandates.

AGF Asset Management Asia Ltd. - Singapore-based and established in 1994, this operation provides investment research
and advisory services on Aslan markets for the AGF mutual funds and cther clients.

Fund Administraticn Operations Segment

Unisen Inc. ["Unisen”) - based in Mississauga, Ontario, Unisen Inc. offers comprehensive third-party administration services
and transfer agency software solutions to the financial services industry. Our Investment Management Operations segment
currently represents the most significant source of revenue far Unisen.

Investmaster Group Limited - a wholly owned subsidiary that is a leading supplier of software products and services to the
private wealth management community in the UK.

Trust Company Operations Segment

AGF Trust Company — in operation since 1988, AGF Trust offers a broad range of web-enakled products and services, including
GICs, term deposits, mortgages, investment loans and RSP loans. AGF Trust is federally incorporated and licensed across
Canada and is a member of the Canadian Payments Association.

Other Segment

Smith & Williamson Holdings Limited - a leading, independent private client investrment management, financial advisory and
accounting group based in the U.K. We hold a 31.6% interest in this company as at November 30, 2004.

The following discussicn provides details of our overall corporate business strategy and achievements in connection with
these strategies in fiscal 2004 and is followed by a discussion of our Key Performance Indicators, which are measures that
we use to determine whether or not we have been successful in achieving our stated strategies.

It is also important to understand that significant risks and uncertainties related to our business exist that may prevent
us from achieving our strategies. An overview of Factors that May Affect Future Results (Risk Factors) related to our business
has also been provided.

Finally, a discussion of Critical Accounting Policies follows. These accounting policies are an integral part of the preparation
of gur financial statements and require us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amount of assets, liabilities,
revenues and expenses reported in cur financial statements.

With an understanding of cur corporate strategy, relevant measures to determine success, an understanding of the
risk facters and critical accounting policies, the discussion that follews should give readers a management perspective
of our operations.

Corporate Strategy

AGF Management Limited helps to identify and facilitate opportunities for our business segments and ensures segment strate-
gies are aligned with the overall corporate strategy of targeting sustainability, profitability and value for our sharehelders over the
long term. As stated in ocur 2003 MD&A, our principal fecus in fiscal 2004 was to strengthen the core investment management
business, while at the same time actively continuing the diversification of revenue sources both by industry and geography.

Our execution of this strategy continues and in 2004 we achieved the following:

* Restructured our businesses to better serve our clients and added significant management strength through key hires
in our senior managernent ranks.
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Acquired Cypress and P.J. Doherty for combined consideration of $38.3 million in an effart to bolster our industry
position in private investment management and provide investment management expertise that allowed us to market
new products in early 2005.

Delivered value directly to our shareholders through dividend payments and our share buy back program.

i.) Dividends paid on AGF Class A voting common shares and AGF Class B non-voting shares increased to $37.5 million
in 2004 as compared with $27.2 million in fiscal 2003. This represented an increase of $0.115 per share or 39.0%
over the $0.295 per share paid in 2003,

ii.] Significantly increased activity with respect to our share buy back program. Repurchased 2,099,800 AGF Class B
non-voting shares during 2004 as compared with repurchases of 503,300 shares in fiscal 2003.

Delivered strong year-over-year financial growth in the Fund Administraticn Operations and Trust Company Operations
segments of our business.

= Commenced a disciplined review of support entities to determine how each entity fits into our long-range business
strategies, how operating synergies may be realized and how returns from each business segment can be maximized.

We remain committed to our corporate strategy that targets sustainability, profitability and value fer our shareholders in
the years to come, and a further discussion of specific business segment strategies is inctuded in the segment discussions.

Key Performance Indicators and Non-GAAP Measures

We measure the success of our business strategies using a number of key performance indicators, which are outlined
below. With the exception of revenue, the following key perfermance indicators are not measurements in accordance with
Canadian GAAP and should not be considered as an alternative to net income or any other measure of performance under
Canadian GAAP. Segment discussions include a review of key performance indicators that are relevant to each segment.

Assets Under Management ["AUM"]

AUM are critical to our business as it is from these assets that we generate fees from cur mutual fund, institutional and private
investment management relationships. AUM fluctuate in value as a result of investment performance, sales and redemptions.

In addition, AUM determines a significant porticn of our expenses, as we pay upfront commissions and trailing commissions
to investment advisars as well as invesiment advisory fees based on the value of AUM.

Investment Performance (Market Appreciation of Fund Partfolios)

Investment parformance, which is shown net of management feas received, is a key driver of the level of AUM and is central
to the value proposition that we offer advisors and unithalders. Growth in AUM resulting from investment performance
increases the wealth of our unitholders and in turn we benefit from higher revenues. Alternatively, poer investment perform-
ance may resutt in redemptions, which in turn reduce our AUM and revenues. Strong investment performance may also con-
tribute to gross sales growth ar reduced levels of redemptions.

Net Sales

One of the goals of our mutual fund business is to generate positive net sales on an annual basis, which in turn allows for
increasing revenues. Gross sales and redemptions as a percentage of AUM are monitered separately. The sum of these two
ameunts composes net sales, which together with investment performance determines the level of average daily mutual
fund AUM, the basis on which management fees are charged.
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Revenue

Revenue s a measurement defined hy Canadian GAAP and is recorded net of fee rebates and taxes. Revenue is indicative of
the potential to deliver cash flow.
We derive our revenug principally from a combination of:

= Management and advisory fees based on the net asset value of funds under management.
= Administration fees earned.
= Deferred sales charges ['DSC”) earned from investors when mutual fund securities sald on 2 DSC basis are redeemed.

= Net interest earned on our Trust Company loan portfolio.

EBITDA

We define EBITDA as income hefore interest expense, income taxes, depreciation and amortization. EBITDA is a standard
measure used in the mutual fund industry by management, investors and investment analysts in understanding and cernparing
results. We believe this is an important measure as it allows us to assess cur ongoing businesses without the impact of
amortization and is an indicater of our ability to incur or service debt, invest in cur business, finance sales commissions,

pay dividends and execute share repurchase programs.

Cash Flow from Operations

We report cash flow frem operations before net changes in non-cash balances related to operations. Cash flow frem operations
helps to assess the ability of the business to generate cash, which is used to pay dividends, repurchase shares, pay down
debt and fund other needs faor cash.

Return on Equity [ROE] and Return on Investment [ROI]

We moniter return on equity to access the profitability of the consolidated company. We calculate ROE by dividing net income
by average shareholders’ equity. ROl is a key performance indicator that we utilize to assess prospective investments and to
monitor past investments. ROl measures cash floew in relation to the original amount invested and incorporates the time
value of money.

Loan Asset Growth

In the Trust segment we focus on asset growth, as it drives net interest income and increases prefitability. We targst
double-digit growth in assets and expect that mortgage lending will continue to make up a large part of future asset grawth.

Efficiency Ratio

In the Trust segment we also menitor the efficiency ratio, which is calculated by dividing non-interest expenses by the total of
net interest inceme and fee income. Our goal is to contain growth in non-interest expenses below revenue growth and
achieve an efficiency ratio of less than 50%.

Factors that May Affect Future Results [Risk Factors])

There are many factors that may affect our ability to execute against our strategy. Some of these factors are within our
control and athers, because of their nature, are beyond our control. These factors apply to our corporate strategy as well as
the business-specific strategies that are included in the segment discussions that fellow.

Company-5Specific Factors

Demand for cur products depends on the ability of our investment management team to deliver value in the form of strong
investment returns, as well as the demand for specific investment products. A specific fund manager’s style may fall out of
favour with the market, resulting in lower sales and/or higher redemptions.




AGF Management Limited / Annual Report 2004

Qur future financial performance will be influenced by our ability te successfully execute our sales and marketing strategy
and improve cur net sales. We have committed resources to building systemns and attracting talented people. If sales do not
materialize as planned, margins may erode.

Our strategy includes strategic acquisitions. There is no assurance that we will be able to complete acquisitions on
terms and cenditions that satisfy cur investment criteria. After transactions are completed, meeating target return objectives
is contingent upon many factors, including retaining key employees and growth in AUM of the acguired companies.

The success of our review of support entities will be influenced by whether strategic options being censidered are available
under terms that we view as beneficial to sharehotders.

Mast of our AUM are from investment advisors or strategic partners that offer our products aleng with competing prod-
ucts. AGF’s brand and investment performance have contributed to our success in the past. However, our future success is
dependent on access to distribution channels that are independent of cur company.

Non-Company Factors

The level of competition in the industry is high. Sales and redemptions of mutual funds may be influenced by relative service
levels, management fees, attributes of specific products in the marketplace and actions taken by competitors.

We take all reasonable measures to ensure compliance with governing statutes, regulations or regulatory policies.
However, a failure to comply with statutes, regulations or regulatory policies could result in sanctions ar fines that could
adversely affect earnings and reputation. Changes to laws, statutes, regulations or regulatery policies could affect us by
changing certain economic factors in our industry. See the Government Regulations section for further details.

Our revenue is highly carrelated to the daily value of AUM. As a result, revenues are generally not subject to significant
seasonal swings. We experience somewhat higher sales during the RSP seascen, however, the immediate impact of the level
of sales on total revenue is not significant. The "Selected Quarterly Information” table shows key performance statistics for
the past eight quarters.

Foreign Exchange Risk

Our main fereign exchange risk derives frem the U.S. and international portfolic securities held in the mutual fund AUM. Change
in the value of the Canadian dollar relative to foreign currencies will cause fluctuations in the Canadian dollar value of non-
Canadian AUM upon which our management fees are calculated. We menitor this risk, and may, at the discretion of the fund
manager, enter into foreign exchange contracts to hedge foreign expesure on U.S. and internaticnal securities held in funds.

We are subject to foreign exchange risk on our integrated foreign subsidiaries in Ireland and Singapare, which provide
investment advisory services. These subsidiaries retain minimal monetary expesure to the local currency, their revenues are
calculated in Canadian dollars and the local currency expenses are comparatively small.

interest Rate Risk

Excluding the AGF Trust operations, we are exposed to the risk related to changes in interest rates on $48.5 million of floating
rate debt at November 30, 2004. The effect of a 1% change in variable interest rates on this debt in fiscal 2004 would have
resulted in a change of approximately $0.5 million in interest expense for the year ended November 30, 2004. As the amount of
interest paid is small relative to our operating cash flow, such a change in interest rates would not have a material impact on
the results of operations or the fair value of the related debt.

For the AGF Trust operations, the impact of a 1% change in interest rates would be a change of annual net interest income
of approximately $0.2 million.

The foregoing discussion is not an exhaustive List of all risks and uncertainties with respect to our ability to execuie against
our strategy and readers are cautioned to consider other patential risk factors when assessing our ahility to execute
against our strategy.
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Critical Accounting Policies

Accounting policies are an integral part of the preparation of our financial statements in accordance with accounting principles
generaily accepted in Canada. Understanding these policies is a key factor in understanding our reported results of operations
and financial position. See Note 1 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for a discussion of all of our significant
accounting policies. Certain critical accounting policies require us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amount
of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses reported in the financial statements. Due to their nature, estimates involve judgment
based on available information. Therefore, actual results or amounts could differ from estimates and the difference could have
a material impact on the consolidated financial statements.

We consider the following to be among our current accounting policies that involve significant estimates or judgments.

Valuation of Goodwill, Management Contracts and Other Intangible Assets

Under Canadian GAAP, goodwill and management contracts are not amaortized, but instead assessed for impairment at the
reporting unit level on at least an annual basis. Goodwitl and management contracts are assessed for impairment using a
two-step approach, with the first step being to assess whether the fair vatue of the reporting unit with which the goodwill is
associated is less than its carrying value. When the fair value of the reperting unit is less than the carrying value, a secend
impairment test is performed. The second test requires a comparison cof the fair value of gocdwill and management contracts
to their carrying amount. If the fair value of goodwill and management contracts is less than their carrying value, goodwill and
management contracts are considered to be impaired and a charge for impairment must be recognized immediately. The fair
value of our reperting units is determinad from internally developed valuation models that consider various facters, such as
normalized and projected earnings, price-earnings multiples and discount rates. We use judgment in estimating the fair value
of reporting units and imprecision in any assumptions and estimates usad in fair value calculations could influence the
determination of the goedwill and management contracts impairment and affect the valuation of goodwill and management
contracts. We believe the assumptions and estimates used are reasonable and supportable in the existing environment.
Where possible, fair values generated internally are compared to market information and are found to be reasonable.

Intangible assets that derive their value from contractual customer relationships or that can be separated and sold, and
have a finite useful life, are amortized aver their estimated useful life. Determining the estimated useful life of these finite
Life intangible assets requires an analysis of the circumstances and judgment. Finite life intangible assets are tested for
impairment whenever circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. Such circumstances would
indicate potential intangible asset impairment and would require a cash flow analysis at that time. As a result, recoverable
value based on expected future cash flows is similar to ather capital assets.

Income Taxes

The recognition of future tax assets depands on management’s assumption that future earnings will he sufficient to realize
the future benefit. The amount of the asset or liability recorded is based cn management’s best estimate of the timing of the
realization of the asset or liability.

Armortization Policies and Useful Lives

We amortize the cost of property, equipment and other intangible assets over the estimated useful service lives of the items.
0n an annual basis, we reassess the existing estimates of useful lives to ensure they match the anticipated life from a revenue
producing perspective.

Accounting for Deferred Sales Commissions

Selling commissions paid on mutual fund securities are recorded at cost and are amortized on a straighi-line bhasis over a
period thai corresponds with the applicable deferred sales commission ("DSC”] schedule. The unamortized DSC amount on
the balance sheet is compared to the value that would be realized if ali outstanding DSC securities were redeemed as at the
balance sheet date. If the calculated realization value is less than the unamortized amount on the balance sheet, a write-
down of the balance sheet amount is required.
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Accounting for Loan Lesses

Accounting for loan losses is an area of importance given the size of the AGF Trust Company’s loan portfolio. Loan impairment
is recognized when we determine, based on the identification and evaluation of preblem loans and accounts, that the timely
collection of all contractually due interest and principal payments is no longer assured. Judgment is required as to the timing
of designating a loan as impaired and the amount of the required specific allowance. Judgment is based on an assessment of
probability of default, loss given default and exposure at default. Changes in these estimates due to a number of circumstances
can have a direct impact on the provision for loan losses and may result in a change in the allowance. General allowances also
require judgment given that the level of general allowances depends upon an assessment of business and econcmic conditions,
historical and expected loss experience, loan portfelio composition and other relevant indicators.

Contingencies

We are subject to varicus claims and contingencies related te lawsuits, taxes and commitments under contractual and other
commercial obligations. The company recognizes liabilities for contingencies and commitments when a loss is probable and
capable of being reasonably estimated. Significant changes in assumptions as to the likelihood and estimates of the amount
of loss could result in a change in the recogniticn of a liability.

Consolidated Operating Results

The table below summarizes cur Consolidated Operating Results for the years ended November 30, 2004 and 2003.

[$ millions, except per share amounts]

Years ended November 30 2004 2003 % change
Revenue $ 6399 $ 6008 6.5%
Expenses 387.4 316.5 22.46%
EBITDA' 252.5 284.3 (11.2%]
Amortization 161.5 157.4 2.5%
Intarest expense &1 o4 (36.7%]
Income taxes 7.6 73.2 [89.6%]
Net income $ 77.3 $ 440 75.6%
Cash flow from operations? $ 2078 $ 2085 (0.4%)

Per share amounts - diluted

Cash flow from cperations $ 2.24 $ 2.25 0.4%
Earnings $ 0.84 $ 0.47 78.7%
Return on equity 8.5% 4.9%

! As previously defined, see the "Key Performance Indicators and Nen-GAAP Measures - EBITDA” section. The items required to reconcile EBITDA to net income,
a defined term under Canadian GAAP, are detailed abhove.

Cash flow from operations before net change in nan-cash balances related to operations.

31




management’'s discussion and analysis
of financial condition and resulis of operations

Consolidated revenues increased by 6.5% for the year ended November 30, 2004, with all husiness segments reporting
revenue growth. lnvestment Management Operations revenue grew 8.0% on the strength of higher average daily mutual fund
AUM and the acquisition of P.J. Doherty and Cypress. Fund Administraticn Operations revenue increased by 0.5% in fiscal 2004
as compared with fiscal 2003, as revenues from parties cutside the AGF Group grew by 4.9% offset by reductions in revenues
earned from the AGF Group. Trust Campany Cperations revenues increased by 18.7% in fiscal 2004 over 2003 on the strength
of increased mortgages and censumer leans. The increases in business segment revenues in 2004 were offset by the fact that
2003 consolidated revenues included a gain of $12.8 million resulting from the disposition of an investment in an associated
company.

Expenses increased by 22.4% in fiscal 2004 as compared with 2003, The majority of this increase is in the investment
Management Operations segment.

EBITDA declined by 11.2% for the year ended November 30, 2004 over the respective 2003 period, predominantly due to
one-time items recorded in the fourth quarter of 2004 and the $12.8 million gain on disposition of investment recorded in
fiscal 2003. Excluding these amounts, EBITDA increased by 4.4% in fiscal 2004 as compared with fiscal 2003.

Amortization expenses remained relatively flat for the year ended Novemnber 30, 2004, increasing by 2.5% compared with
the corresponding period in 2003. Amortization of deferred selling commissions in the Investment Management Operations
segment accounted for $121.7 million of the total amortization expense and was the driver in the year-over-year increase.

Interest expense decreased to $6.1 million for the year ended November 30, 2004 from $9.7 million in the same period
in 2003. The decrease is primarily a result of lower average outstanding loan balances in 2004 as compared with 2003 and a
reduction in interest expense recorded in marking to market the interest rate swaps.

Income tax expense for the year ended November 30, 2004 was $7.6 million as compared with $73.2 million in 2003.
Fiscal 2004 tax expenses were reduced by $15.7 million related to tax benefits acquired and utilized in 2004. The fiscal 2003
tax expense of $73.2 million included a $40.2 million charge related to the change in future Ontario provincial income tax rates.

The impact of the above revenue and expense items resulted in net income of $77.3 million in fiscal 2004 as compared
with $44.0 million in fiscal 2003. Diluted earnings per share were up 78.7% in 2004 as compared with 2003,

For a meore detailed discussion of revenue and expense items, refer to the individual operating segment discussions.

An analysis of the 2004 fourth quarter results is included under the heading "Fourth Quarter Analysis.”

Outlook

After a period of rapid growth and consolidation of industry players, we believe that the investment fund industry in Canada is
now in the early stages of maturity. Despite the maturity cf the industry, demand for investment products will remain sirong,
as a significant amount of unused Registerad Retirement Savings Plan contribution room exists in Canada. Mutual funds
remain a very accessibie and attractive solution for these retirement accounts. We also believe the demand for income/yield
preducing products will continuea.

We plan to capitalize on opportunities for growth in the future, primarily by introducing innovative preducts and focusing
on the needs of our clients and strategic partners.

Bolstering our sales force, introducing new products, and the competitive fee environment may result in reduced margins
and a moderation of AGF's financial performance in 2605.

Business-specific outlocks are included in the segment discussions.

Business Segment Performance

We report on three business segments: Investment Management Oparations, Fund Administration Operations and Trust
Company Operations. The Investment Management Operations Segment provides investment management and advisory
services and is responsible for the management and distribution of the AGF investment products and services, including
retail mutuat fund operations and high-net-warth client investment counseling services. The Fund Administration Operations
segment offers fund administrative services and transfer agancy solutions to institutional clients in Canada and the U.K.,
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including the AGF mutual funds. The Trust Company Operaticns Segment offers a wide range of trust services and
products including GICs, mortgages, investment loans and RSP loans. The "Other” segment includes the results of
Smith & Williamson Holdings Limited ("S&WHL"], which are accounted for by the equity method, and the interest expense
on our long-term debt. AGF's reportable segments are strategic business units that offer different products and services.

Investment Management Operations

Business and Industry Profile

Our Investment Management Operations segment provides products and services across the wealth continuum, including
mutual funds, wrap products and private investment management. Our products are delivered through multiple channels,
including advisors, financial planners, banks, life insurance companies and consultants.

Investment management remains a highly competitive business with numerous dormestic as well as foreign players serving
the market. We beligve that although the mutual fund business is reaching the early stages of maturity, there are many
opportunities for growth. Consoclidation in the mutual fund industry, particularly in distribution, has changed the competitive
landscape. Some players have utilized vertical integration as a means ta replace third-party product with proprietary praduct.
We beliave that such behaviour may create regulatory pressure to address conflicts of interest. The majority of industry partici-
pants have expanded and opened their distribution channels to allow for best-of-breed products for their clients. We believe
our status as an independent fund manufacturer with no distribution channel conflict will benefit us as the industry continues
to evolve.

Mutual fund industry sales have recently been concentrated in income-oriented products. During AGF's fiscal 2004 period,
industry sales of equity mutual funds were in net redemptions, while bond and dividend income funds represented 73.9% of
industry sales. We believe this trend is partly due to secular factors associated with an aging population. The fact that our
product line-up was not particularly strong in these areas negatively impacted our gross sales results.

Investment Management Operations Segment Strategy

The strategic priorities for our investment management operations are to continue to build on the 2004 initiatives to enhance
our client-centric organization. Strategic initiatives include:

= Reinforce AGF's investment management excellence.
» Build a client-centric organization focused on multi-channel distribution.
e Pursue strategic acquisitions to supplement arganic growth.

Reinforce AGF's Investment Management Excellence

Continually supporting and improving our investment management operations is central to the vision of our company. We
strive for excellence and consistency in our funds. Introducing products that meet the needs of today’s investor is a central
part of this strategy. We believe that investors will continue tc demand income funds as an increasing pertion of Canadians
near retirement.

Consistent with our stated strategy of new product introductions, and as a result of efforts in fiscal 2004, in early January
2005 we increased the distributions on certain existing funds and announced the launch of iwe new income-generating funds:
AGF Monthiy High Income and AGF Diversified Dividend Income.

We also announced a low-load purchase option for all funds [except AGF Managed Futures). Low load is a method of
purchasing mutual funds that provides an alternative to the front end and DSC purchase options.

In addition to preduct announcements, in January 2005, we introduced Teny Genua as the naw manager of AGF American
Growth Class. This change to our flagship fund is a prime example of our dedication to investment management excellence.
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Build a Clieni-Centric Organization Focused on Multi-Channel Distribution

We have chosen to uiilize independent channels of distribution. We believe that supporting independent advice is an attractive
distribution model. Gur focus is on effective execution of a multi-channel distribution approach. We now have tactical plans in
place in three broad distribution categeries: the advisor channel, national acceunts and institutional. In each channel, we
strive to make it easy to do business with AGF,

Pursue Strategic Acquisitions to Supplement Organic Growth

Our organic growth will be supplemented by acquisitions in the Invesiment Management Operations Segment, We have a

disciplined acquisition approach: AGF targets long-term after-tax return on investments in excess of 15% per annum. We ook

for acquisitions that have a financial as well as a strategic rationale, such as our investments in P.J. Doherty and Cypress.
Our approach to managing capital requires us to consider acquisitions in the context of various other uses of capital,

including share repurchases, dividends and reinvesting in the business.

Assets Under Management

The primary sources of revenue for AGF's investrnent management operations are ranagement and advisory fees. The
amount of management and advisory fees is dependent on the level and compaosition of AUM. Under the management and
investment advisory contracts between AGF and each of the mutual funds, we are entitled to monthly fees based on a specified
percentage of the average daily net asset value of the respective fund. In addition, we earn fees on our institutional and private
investment management AUM, As a result, the level of AUM has a significant influence on financial results. The following
table illustrates the composition of the changes in tatal AUM during the years ended November 30, 2004 and 2003:

1$ millions)
Years ended Novernber 30 2004 2003 % change
Mutual fund AUM, beginning of year % 23,168 $ 23,549 (1.6%)
Gross sales of mutual funds 2586 2,271 13.9%
Redemption of mutual funds [4,772) (4,019) 18.7%
Net mutual fund redemptions [2,186] {1,748] 25.1%
Market appreciation of fund portfolios 1,765 1,367 29.1%
Mutual fund AUM, end of year & 22,747 $ 23,168 (1.8%)
Institutional and PIM AUM 8,621 5,049 70.7%
Total AUM $ 31,368 $ 28,217 11.2%
Average daily mutual fund AUM for the year $ 23,759 $ 22,203 7.0%

Total AUM incressed by 11.2% on the strength of growth related to institutional and private investment management
AUM, The acquisitions of P.J. Doherty and Cypress were the primary contributors to the year-over-year growth.

Mutual fund AUM were down slightly on a year-over-year basis, however, average daily mutual fund AUM were up 7.0%
and a major contributer to the improved revenues in 2004 as compared with 2003,
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Details of muiual fund net sales and investment performance were as follows:

Net Sales

Net sales are a key performance indicator for our Investment Management Operations segment. AGF experienced net
redempticns of $2.2 billicn during fiscal 2004, falling short of cur goal of generating positive net sales. Portfolio rebal-
ancing by three institutional clients contributed $299.9 million to these net redemptions. AGF’s lack of income-orianted
mutual funds, which were in favour with investers during our fiscal 2004, contributed to the weakness in gross sales. The
strategic refocusing completed in the third quarter of fiscal 2004 included a comprehensive product audit and the launch
of new funds in early 2005. The overall goal of the refocusing was to improve gross sales and reduce redemptions.

Investment Performance

Stock market performance influences the level of AUM. During the year ended November 30, 2004, the Canadian-dollar-
adjusted S&P 500 [ndex rose 1.8%, the Canadian-dollar-adjusted NASDAQ index fell 1.9% and the S&P/TSX Composite
Index rose 14.9%. The total market appreciation of our mutual fund assets for the year ended November 30, 2004 divided
by the average daily mutuzl fund AUM for the year equals 7.4%.

The impact of the U.5. dollar decline relative to the Canadian dollar on the market value of AGF mutual funds since
November 30, 2003 has been a reduction in AUM of approximately $0.5 billion.

Consistent with the rise in the stock market, market appreciaticn net of management fees increased mutual fund AUM
by $1.8 billion since November 30, 2003. For the five-year period ended November 30, 2004, 62% of ranked AUM performed
above median. Over the 10-year period ended Novemnber 30, 2004, 75% of ranked AUM performed above median.

Strong market performance cembined with solid performance by our fund managers has served to preserve the
overall mutual fund AUM position as at November 30, 2004 compared with Nevember 30, 2003.

The composition of our mutual fund AUM is summarized as follows:

Percentage of Total Mutual Fund AUM at November 30 2004 2003
Domestic equity funds 30.1% 26.4%
.S, and international equity funds 44 6% 47.3%
Domestic balanced funds 11.3% 11.6%
U.S. and international balanced funds 2.5% 3.0%
Domestic fixed income funds 9.5% 9.8%
International fixed income funds 2.0% ) 2.1%
100.0% 100.0%

The change in the compasition of mutual fund AUM in 2004 was due to the appreciation of the Canadian dollar
relative to the U.S. dollar and the higher level of net redemptions of U.5. and international equity funds relative to other
types of funds.

The cormpasition of AUM has direct influence on our revenues. Generally, equity funds have higher management fees
than fixed incorne funds and international funds have higher management fees than domestic funds.
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Segment Results and KPIs

The table below highlights the Investment Management Operaticns segment results for the years ended November 30, 2004

and 2003.
[$ mitlions)
Years ended November 30 2004 2003 % change
Revenue
Net management and advisory fees $ 4337 4057 6,9%
Administration fees and other revenue 459 34.3 33.9%
Deferred sales charges 39.1 405 (3.6%)
Investment income 1.6 ] B4.2%
520.3 481.6 8.0%
Expenses
Selling, general and administrative 151.9 89.1 70.4%
Trailing commissions 112.5 102.8 9.4%
Investment advisory fees 30.4 30.6 10.6%])
Writedown of short-term investments 0.5 0.6 (4.7%)
295.4 223.1 32.4%
EBITDA! 224.% 258.5 (13.0%)
Amortization 144.7 140.0 3.3%
Income before taxes and non-segmented items $ 80.2 118.5 (32.4%]

' As previously defined, see the “Key Performance Indicators and Non-GAAP Measures - EBITDA” section.

Revenue

Revenue for the Investment Management Operations segment increased 8.0% over the previous year, with changes in the

categories being:

Net Management and Advisory Fees

The rise in average daily mutual fund AUM in fiscal 2004 of 7.0% directly contributed to a 6.9% increase in net manage-
ment and advisory fee revenue from the same period a year ago.

Management and advisory fee revenue in fiscal 2004 is reporied net of distribution fees paid te limited partnerships
and other third-party financing entities of $16.3 million [$18.2 million in 2003].

Administration Fees and Other Revenue

Administration fees and other revenue, which includes fees earned on Harmony, institutional and private wealth management
AUM, increased by 33.9% in the year ended November 30, 2004, as compared with the same period in the prior year. There
was strong growth in Harmeny revenues, which was augmentad by the acquisitions of P.J. Doherty and Cypress in the year,

Deferred Sales Charges
We receive Deferred Sales Charges upon redemption of securities sold on the contingent DSC or "back-end” commission
basis for which we financed the selling cemmissions paid to the dealer. The DSC is generally 5.5% of the original subscription
price of the funds purchased if the funds are redeemed within the first two years and declines te zero after seven years.
DSC revenue fluctuates based on the level of redemptions, the age of the assets being redeemed and the proportion of
redemptions composed of “back-end” assets.
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Expenses
Expenses for the Investment Management Operations segment increased 32.4% over the previous year. Changes in specific
categories are described in the discussion that follows.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

SG&A includes $31.0 million of expense related to the agreement with the OSC. Excluding this amount, SG&A for 2004
was $120.9 million, representing a $31.8 million increase in SG&A expenses in 2004 as compared with 2003. This increase
is due to costs associated with the continued building of AGF's investment management and sales teams, non-recurring
compensation expenses related to the reorganization of the sales and marketing functions and the inclusion of operating
expenses related to the newly acquired P.J. Doherty and Cypress.

Trailing Commissions

Trailing commissions paid to investment dealers are dependent on total AUM, the proportion of mutual fund AUM sold on a
front-end versus back-end commission basis, and the proportion of equity fund AUM versus fixed income fund AUM. Trailing
commissions as a percentage of average daily mutual fund AUM increased to 0.473% for the 12 months ended November 30,
2004 from 0.463% in the comparable 2003 period, due to an increased proportion of mutual fund AUM sold on a front-end basis.

Investment Advisory Fees
External investment advisory fees remained relatively constant on a year-over-year basis as the average AUM managed
by sub-advisors remained constant on a year-over-year basis.

EBITDA

EBITDA for the Investment Management Operations segment were $224.9 million for the year ended November 30, 2004, a
decrease of 13.0% from $258.5 million for the same period of fiscal 2003. Excluding the impact of the agreement with the
OSC, EBITDA for the year ended November 30, 2004 was $255.9 million, declining by 1.0% over 2003.

Amortization
The largest item in this category is amortization of deferred selling commissions. Amortization also inctudes amortization of
property, equipment and other intangible assets, customer contracts, relationships and investment advisory contracts.

We internally finance all selling commissions paid. These selling commissions are capitalized and are amortized on a
straight-line basis over a period that corresponds with their applicable DSC schedule.

Amortization expense related to deferred selling commissions was $121.7 million in 2004 as compared with $117.0 million
in 2003. The year-over-year increase is reflective of the prior year’s mix in sales on a DSC basis as compared to sales on a
front-end basis. Front-end load sales result in us paying no upfront commission to the advisor.

During fiscal 2004, we paid $54.5 million in selling commissions, compared with $45.8 million in 2003. As at November 30,
2004, the unamortized balance of deferred selling commissions financed stood at $327.6 million, a decrease of $67.2 million
from the prior-year balance of $394.8 million. The contingent deferred sates charges that would be received if all of the DSC
securities were redeemed at November 30, 2004 were estimated to be approximately $442.7 million {2003 - $525.3 million].
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Segment Outlook

Net management and advisory fees are directly impacted by market appreciation or depreciation of fund portfolios and net
fund sales or redemptions. Our current expectation is that these factors will combine to keep AUM relatively flat on a year-
over-year basis.

We expect 2005 SG&A to be consistent with the amounts incurred in fiscal 2004, excluding the expense related to the
agreement with the 0SC, as we commit the required resources to execute our stated strategy. We believe that it is prudent
to incur these added selling and marketing costs to take advantage of compelling opportunities in the marketplace.

Although we experienced a high level of net mutual fund redemptions during fiscal 2004, management believes that the
following factors position us for future asset growth and financial success:

» Financial strength with strong cash flows that will allow us to return value to shareholders and pursue strategic acquisitions.

e Arevitalized sales and marketing function. The centralization of all aspects of sales and marketing will allow a more
strategic and client-centric approach to strengthening advisor relationships.

* The inclusion of two strategic acquisitions. We acquired 100% of P.J. Doherty in January 2004 and 100% of Cypress
in June 2004. These acquisitions complete a national network of private investment management firms and create a
strong platform for organic growth. The acquisition of Cypress also creates operational synergies, such as the ability
to offer new income-oriented products.

* Continued strong investment performance of the AGF fund portfolios. Over a 10-year period, 75% of ranked mutual
fund AUM have performed above median.

* Well-positioned products. The Harmony Pools, AGF's highly successful wrap product, continues to generate strong
asset inflows and management believes it will continue to be a leading product in this market segment.

e Qur new income product offerings address current investor preference for yield.

Fund Administration Operations

This segment operates in Canada as Unisen Inc. ("Unisen”] and in the United Kingdom as Investmaster Group Limited
(“Investmaster”]. Unisen composes the majority of the segment’s results.

Business and Industry Profile

We offer technology solutions and business process services to investment firms and institutional clients, including the AGF
group of mutual funds. Unisen was formed in 2002 by the combination of AdminSource Inc., The Toronto-Dominion Bank
third-party administration business (“TD Administration”), Jewelstone Systems Inc. ["Jewelstone "’} and the fund administration
operations of AGF.

Unisen holds a strong position in the outsourcing market and serves directly or through other third-party administrators,
approximately 170 investment companies and financial institutions. There has been a trend toward outsourcing investment
fund back office processing in the United States and Europe. In the Canadian marketplace, although investment funds have
been slower to embrace outsourcing, increased acceptance may provide opportunities for the market to grow.

Investmaster provides IT solutions to the United Kingdom's wealth management and institutional brokering sectors and
its technology now handles 25% of the London Stock Exchange's private client volumes.
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Fund Administration Operations Segment Strategy

Unisen's strategic priority is to be the provider of cheice for administration services and technology to the investment services
industry in Canada and other selected markets. Primary strategic initiatives include:

= Enhancing client experience through service guality and innovative products.

Investing in the Unitrax IT platform to build upon its market leadership.

Expanding the scope of services heyond traditional fund structures.

Creating an organizational culture that emphasizes personal accountability, commitment to service excetlence and
cost containment.

Unisen operates independently from the AGF Greup and is guided by its own management team. Over the past two years,
Unisen has achieved a number of significant accomplishments that have contributed to the scalable and efficient platform that
exists today. The number of transfer agency IT systems has been reduced from four to two. Six aperating locations were combined
into one cerporate headguarters in Mississauga, Ontario. In conjunction with our organizational restructuring, significant focus has
been placed on business processes that have resulted in improved controls, operational efficiencies and, more importantly, reduced
costs of servicing related and third-party clients. Unisen is well-pesitioned to meet its strategic priorities in the years to come.

Investmaster’s business strategy is to continue to provide a high level of service and support to existing customer relationships
and build on this reputation to expand market share.

Segment Results and KPls

The tabie below highlights the Fund Administration Operations segment results for the years ended November 30, 2004
and 2003.

(% mitlions}
Years ended Movember 30 2004 2003 % change
Interest, administration fees and other revenue % 129.1 % 128.5 0.5%
Selling, general and administrative expenses 114.9 121.7 (5.6%)
EBITDA' 14.2 6.8 109.0%
Amortization 15.5 14.5 T71%
Loss before income taxes and
non-segmented items $ (1.3) $ (7.7) 83.1%

' As previously defined, see the "Key Performance Indicators and Non-GAAF Measures - EBITDA” section.

Revenue

Revenue for the Fund Administration Operations segment increased 0.5% from $128.5 million in fiscal 2003 to $129.1 millian
in 2004. The increases are primarily attributable to the acquisition of Conseort Information Systems Limited ["CISL"] completed
in April 2003, which resulted in an expanded customer base for Investmaster offset by slightly lower year-over-year revenues
at Unisen.
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Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

The decrease in SG&A was due to cost savings at Unisen of over $9.0 million resulting from the integration of our third-party
fund administration operations onto one IT platform offset in part by an increase in Investmaster’s SG&A as a result of the
acquisition of CISL. In addition, Unisen recorded a $3.0 million charge related to facilities that they vacated during the year.
The charge represents aur estimate of the difference between the aggregate future lease obligations and the recovery

from subleasing.

EBITDA

EBITDA for the Fund Administration Operations segment more than doubled to $14.2 million in fiscal 2004 on the strength of
Unisen’s results, compared with $6.8 million in 2003.

Amartization of Customer Contracts and Relationships
Amortization of customer contracts and relationships amounted to $6.0 million for the year ended November 30, 2004, a
decrease of $0.2 million or 3.2% from the corresponding period in 2003.

Amaortization of Property, Equipment and Other Intangible Assets

Amortization of property, equipment and other intangible assets includes the amertization over a period of five years of
software acquired as part of the Jewelstone and CISL acquisitions. These acquisitions resulted in the addition of software
amounting to $2.3 million and $9.5 millicn, respectively. The increase in amortization of property and equipment in fiscal
2004 was also attributable to higher capital spending incurred in 2003 on leasehold improvements and IT infrastructure in
respect of Unisen’s head office in Mississauga, Ontaric.

Segment Outlook

Industry trends such as consolidation of fund companies, preference towards “in sourcing” by larger investment fund firms
and the popularity of non-fund products pose near-term challenges to business growth. As a result, we anticipate Unisen’s
revenue for the coming year will be lewer than 2004. Notwithstanding these factors, with its strong operational foundation
and a significant market paosition in Canada, we believe Unisen is well-positioned for long-term growth and as a result of
operational efficiencies and restructuring activities, we should he able te maintain margins in this segment of the business.

Trust Company Operations

Business and Industry Profile

Through AGF Trust we offer financial solutions including mortgages, investment loans, RSP loans, and both non-registered
and registered term deposits. Qur products are distributed through independent financial advisors as well as mortgage bro-
kers. The mortgage broker channel has experienced strong growth. Borrowers have chosen to deal with mortgage brokers to
take advantage of independent advice and competitive rates, while lenders have provided mortgages in this channel ic reduce
distribution costs. Advisors continue to breaden their suite of products as they campete for relationships with banks.
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Trust Company Operations Segment Strategy

We strive to earn a strong financial return as well as maximize synergies with the Investment Management Operations segment.
Specific strategies include:

s Aggressive product marketing.
s Providing tailored products that directly serve advisor needs.
# Disciplined loan-underwriting standards to minimize credit losses.

¢ Expense management initiatives to keep cost stable while assets grow.

In fiscal 2004, we created a dedicated sales staff to promote investment lending and mortgage products, and as a result
the loan portfelio increased significantly in 2004, Resources were also dedicated to better support AGF investment management
wholesalers with the aim to make it easier for AGF whalesalers to serve their clients and promote trust preducts to advisors.

AGF Trust will continue to maximize cperational synergies with cur investment management business through trust
products that assist financial advisors in broadening and deepening their relationship with their clients. In addition, we
will focus on expanding returns by increasing our consumer and mortgage loan portfolios.

Segment Results and KPIs

The table below highlights our cperating segment results for the years ended November 30, 2004 and 2003.

($ millions)
Years ended Movember 30 2004 2003 % change
Interest, administration fees and other revenue $ A2.6 $ 35.9 18.7%
Expenses
Selling, general and administrative expenses 10.8 8.9 20.6%
Interest on deposits 18.1 18.6 [2.4%)
Provision for loan losses 2.6 2.0 29.8%
31.5 295 6.7%
EBITDA' 1.3 6.4 T4 1%
Armortization 1.2 0.9 31.9%
Income before taxes and non-segmented items ¢ 9.9 $ 5.5 81.1%

' As previously defined, see the "Key Performance Indicators and Non-GAAP Measures — EBITDA” section.
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Revenue

Revenue increased by 18.7% in fiscal 2004 as compared with 2003, with the increase being atiributable to a 32.7% year-over-
year increase in the mortgage loan portfolio and a 51.1% year-over-year increase in the consumer loan portfolio.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

SG&A increased by 20.6% in fiscal 2004 as compared with 2003, as a result of increased compensaticn expense directly
related to the in¢reases in the loan portfolios. Much of the compensation of our staff is variable and related to increases

in the loan portfolios.

Provision for Loan Losses

The provision for loan losses increased by 29.8% in the year as compared with 2003, with the increase attributable to the

increase in our loan portfolic.

EBITDA

The strong revenue growth, coupled with the fact we were able tc increase margins on our loan pertfolios, served to increase

EBITDA by 74.1% in 2004, as compared with 2003.

Operational Results

The table below highlights our key operational measures for the segment for the years ended November 30, 2004 and 2003.

($ millions]

Years ended Movemnber 30 2004 2003 % change
Mortgage loan assets $ 2846 214.5 32.7%
Consumer loan assets 422.7 279.8 51.1%
Other assets 121.7 96.1 26.6%
Total assets $ 8290 590.4 40.4%
Net interest income’ $ 19.6 13.4 46.3%
Other income 3.4 2.6 30.8%
Non-interest expenses 10.5 8.5 23.5%
Provision for loan losses 2.6 2.0 30.0%
Income before taxes and non-segmented items % 2.9 5.5 81.1%
Efficiency ratic? L5.7% 53.1%

Assets-to-capital multiple 15.3 14.3

' Net interest income above is reported net of agent commissions.

" The efficiency ratio is caleulated by dividing non-interest expenses by the tatal of net interest income and fee income.
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Loan Asset Growth

Loan assets experienced substantial growth during fiscal 2004. RSP loan advances were strong as financiat advisors
continued to make use of AGF Trust's internet-based loan application system. New investment lean preducts contributed to
overall growth in loan advances. Net conventional non-accrual loans were $0.7 million, or 0.3% of the mortgage portfolic.

Efficiency Ratio

The efficiency ratio [non-interest expenses divided by the total of net interest income and fee income) is a key performance
indicator utilized to ensure expenses are contained as the Trust business grows. The efficiency ratio improved to 45.7% in
fiscal 2004 from 53.1% during fiscal 2003, meeting our goal of having a ratio below 50%. The improvement in the efficiency
ratio resulted from strong cost discipline and increased volumes. AGF Trust's administrative infrastructure has proven
capable of supporting larger scale.

Balance Sheet

Our balance sheet has grown significantly during the past year, with cur financial position remaining solid. Total assets
increased 40.4% to $829.0 million at November 30, 2004 from the prior year-end. Qur assets-to-capital multipte stood at

15.3 times, up from 14.3 times at Novembear 30, 2003, but well below our autherized multiple of 17.5 times. Our risk-hased
capital ratio was 10.2% at November 30, 2004. We issued $5.0 million in subordinated debt during the year, in order to support
increased asset levels. Liquid agsets were high, with $107.4 million in cash and shert-term investments at November 30, 2004,
ensuring that we can easily meet the higher loan velume funding requirements during the 2005 RSP season.

Loan Portfolio Credit

The general allowance for mortgage loan losses was increased during the year to $71.0 million from $0.8 million. The general
allowance for consumer loan losses was increased to $2.4 million from $1.9 million a year ago.

Approximately two-thirds of morigage loan assets are insured. We have strong security for non-RSP investment loans
and loan losses during the history of the program have been minimat.

Segment Outlook

Volume growth during 200% should allow us te meet our growth targets. The 2005 RSP season has started strongly for the
Trust Company, with lending volumes above last year's pace.

The Trust Company’'s presence in the mortgage broker space has been enhanced through targeted marketing campaigns
and the hiring of business develospment managers specifically for the mortgage broker channel.

A sustained period of positive mutual fund returns, and a low interest rate environment, should be supportive of investment
lending preducts.

Management believes the company is on track to sclidify its position as a trusted alternative to traditional banks far the
lending products that it distributes.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

Cash flow generated from operating activities (before net change in non-cash balances related to operations] was $207.8 miliion
for the year ended November 30, 2004, compared with $208.5 million in the prior year.

Our free cash flow (defined as cash flow from operations less selling commissions paid) was $153.3 miilion for the
year ended November 30, 2004, compared with $162.8 million in the prior year. In fiscal 2004, we paid $54.5 million in selling
commissions, which were deferred for accounting purposes, compared with $45.8 million in 2003. Our free cash flow was
used primarily to fund the following:

[$ millions)

Years ended Movember 30 2004 2003
Decrease in long-term debt $ 54.2 $ 114.0
Payment of dividends S 27.2
Purchase of property, equipmant and other intangible assets 11.4 14.5
Repurchase of AGF Class B non-voting shares for cancellation 37.4 8.6
Acquisitions 20.0 4.0

$ 160.5 $ 168.3

Our strong free cash flow during fiscal 2004 permitted a substantial reduction of long-term debt by $54.2 millien. As a
result, the long-term debt-to-equity ratio decreased significantly from 0.13:1 as at November 30, 2003 to 0.08:1 as at
November 30, 2004,

During fiscal 2004, we used $37.4 million of free cash flow to repurchase 2,099,800 AGF Class B non-voting shares at an
average price of $17.83 per share.

Censclidated cash and cash equivalents amounted to $118.8 million as at Novemnber 30, 2004, up from $88.9 millicn a
year ago. Most of the increase is due to an increase in cash in the Trust Company Operations seqgment.

We have a 10-year prime rate-based revolving term loan facility to a maximum of $150.0 million, of which $106.7 million
was available to be drawn as of November 30, 2004. This facility will be available to meet future operational and investment
needs. We anticipate that cash flow from operations, together with the available loan tacility, will be sufficient in the foreseeable
future to implement cur business plan, finance selling commissions, satisfy regulatory requirements, service debt repayment
obligations, meet capital spending needs and pay quarterly dividends.

Off Balance Sheet Arrangements

Selling commissions paid on certain sales of mutual fund securities of the AGF funds made cn the DSC hasis ["DSC securities”)
were up until 1997 financed by limited partnerships held by third-party investors as described in Note 10 of our censolidated
financial statements. Up to November 30, 2004, such limited partnerships have financed selling commissions of approximately
$440 million in respect of such DSC securities. We are obligated to pay the relevant limited partnership an annual fee based

on the net asset value of DSC securities. The limited partnerships also receive any deferred sales charges resulting from the
redemption of such securities. These obligations continue as long as such DSC securities remain outstanding except for certain
of the limited partnerships, in which case the chligation terminates at various dates from December 31, 2006 to December 31,
2020. For certain limited partnerships the obligation is secured by our mutual fund management cantracts to the extent of the
particular ckligaticn.
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We are responsible for the management and administration of the limited partnerships. These services are provided in the
normal course of operations and are recorded at the amount of consideration agreed to by the parties. The amount of fees
received in 2004 was $830,000 (2003 - $943,000). As at November 30, 2004, the net asset value of DSC securities financed by
the limited partnerships was $2.2 billion (2003 - $2.7 billion).

Contractual Obligations

The table below is a summary of our contractual obligations at November 30, 2004. See also Notes 7 & 21 of the consolidated
financial statements.

($ millions) 2006- 2008-
Total 2005 2007 2009 Thereafter
Long-term debt $ 1120 $ 43.7 $ 1.3 $ 16.2 $ 40.8
Capital lease obligations 2.3 0.8 1.5 -
Operating leases 58.4 6.9 13.1 8.6 29.8
_ Purchase obligations 553 47 1.7 77 29.2
Total contractual obligations $ 2280 $ 58.1 $ 37.6 $ 325 $ 99.8

In addition to the contractual obligations detailed above, the following obligations exist that vary depending upon business
volume and other factors:

e The AGF Trust Company is required to pay depositors amounts representing principal and interest on funds on deposit.

= A portion of our selling commissions paid on a DSC basis have been financed by limited partnerships held by third-
party investors. As at November 30, 2004, the net asset value of DSC securities financed by the limited partnerships
was $2.2 billion and the amount paid to these partnerships in 2004 was $16.3 million.

= We pay trailing commissions to investment advisors based on AUM of their respective clients. This obligation varies based
on sales and redemptions, and in 2004 we paid $112.5 million in trailing commissions.

Intercompany and Related Party Transactions

The Company has entered into a number of cost sharing and services agreements with its subsidiaries in the areas of transac-
tion processing, mutual fund administration, information technology services, and premises. These transactions are eliminated
on consotidation.

The Company has entered into certain transactions with entities, the partners or senior officers, some of which are directors
of the Company. During 2004, total amounts paid by the Company to these related parties in aggregate was $0.1 million
{2003 - $0.1 million).
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Dividends

The holders of the AGF Class B non-voting shares are entitled to receive cash dividends. Dividends are paid in equal amounts
per share on all the AGF Class B non-voting shares and all the AGF Class A voting common shares at the time outstanding,
without preference or priority of one share over another. No dividends may be declared in the event that there is a default of
a condition of our loan facility or where such payment of dividends would create a default.

Our Board of Directors may determine that the Class B shareholders shall have the right to elect to receive part or all of
such dividend in the form of a stock dividend. In determining whether a dividend in AGF Class B non-voting shares is substan-
tially equal to a cash dividend, the Board of Directors may make a determination based on the weighted average price at
which the AGF Class B non-voting shares traded on the Toronto Stock Exchange during the 10 trading days immediately
preceding the record date applicable to such dividend.

The following table sets forth dividends paid by AGF on the AGF Class B non-voting shares and the AGF Class A voting
common shares for the periods indicated:

Years ended November 30 2004 2003 2002 2001 2000’

Per share $ 0.41 $ 0.30 $ 0.26 $ 0.22 $ 0.18

* Restated to reflect the two-for-one share subdivision of the AGF Class B non-voting shares and AGF Class A voting common shares on August 29, 2000.

We review our dividend distribution policy on a quarterly basis, taking into consideration our financial position, profitability,
cash flow and other factors considered relevant by our Board of Directors.

Outstanding Share Data

Set out below is our outstanding share data as at November 30, 2004. For additional detail, see Note 12 and 13 to the
2004 Consolidated Financial Statements.

Common Shares

AGF Class A voting common shares 57,600 |

AGF Class B non-voting shares 90,739,463 |
I

Stock Options !

Outstanding options 3,566,604

Exercisable options 1,610,949

Government Regulations

Government Regulations - Investment Management Operations

AGFFI is subject to regulation by the Ontario Securities Commission ["0SC”] and other provincial securities regulatory authorities.
AGFFI is currently required to be registered as an investment counsel and portfolio manager in order to conduct its business.
We also maintain registration as a mutual fund dealer in certain provinces where it is required. We are also registered as a
Commodity Trading Manager. AGF PIM is registered as an investment counsel and portfolio manager. Application must be
made annually to renew these registrations. The Securities Act (Ontario) and certain other provincial securities legislation
prescribes educational and proficiency standards for individuals engaged in making investment decisions and trading in
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mutual fund securities, capital requirements te protect against insolvency, the filing of financial statements and reports and
the maintenance of contingency funds administered by specified trust companies. Additicnally, AGF Securities [Canada)
Limited, 2 wholly owned subsidiary of AGF, is registered as a securities dealer with the Investment Dealers Association,
which is a self-regulatory organizaticn. AGF Securities Inc., also a wholly owned subsidiary of AGF, is registered with the
Securities and Exchange Commission in the United States.

In its capacity as investment counsel and portfolio manager, AGFFI is sutzject to conflict of interest regulations made
pursuant to the Securities Act [Ontario} and certain other provincial securities legislation. Amang other things, these regula-
tions impose limitations on the ability of AGFFI to advise or make recornmendations with respect to its own securities or
securities of a related or connected issuer. AGFFI is also subject to certain restrictions that are imposed by applicable provincial
securities legislation on advertising and sales incentives.

Each of the Funds must file each year an annual information form and simplified prospectus in every province and terri-
tory of Canada and obtain a receipt for the same from provincial securities requlatory authorities in order that the securities
of the Fund may be sold in each province and territery. AGF Canadian Growth Equity Fund Limited must file an offering docu-
ment annually in Japan in order to qualiy its shares for sale in that country. The Goldrings Group of Funds [off-share mutual
funds domiciled in Ireland) must file its offering documents annually in Ireland as well as in Japan in order to qualify for dis-
tribution in Japan. Each Fund In the AGF Group of Funds, as well as AGFFI as manager, is liable for any misrepresentation in
the offering docurnents of the Funds, and similarly, AGF International Advisors Company Limited is responsible for the
Goldrings Group of Funds.

Pursuant to securities legistation in certain of the provinces of Canada, none of the Funds can make portfolio investments
in the substantial securityholders of such Funds, in AGF or in corparations in which the Funds' directors or officers or their
substantial securityholders have a significant interest.

More recently, a number of regulatory initiatives have been introduced, most notably a new proposal on fund governance
and the OSC's intreduction of the Fair Dealing Model. As well, we are participating in & number of industry- and 0SC-initiated
group consultations. Both of these initiatives are significant proposals and we are considering them carefully.

Government Regulations - Trust Operations

Our Trust Company operations are incorporated faederally and are governed by the Trust and Lecan Companies Act (Canada]
(the "Act”] and by applicable provincial legislation where it carries on business. This legislation specifies the powers of a trust
company and imposes investrent restrictions. Most significantly, the statutes provide for annual and other reports to be filed
on the financial condition of the trust company; periodic examinations of the company’s affairs; restrictions on transactions
with related parties; corporate governance provisions; and minimum capital adequacy standards based on the total assets and
risk-weighted assets of the trust company. The assets-to-capital multiple at November 30, 2004 was 15.3 times and the risk-
based capital ratic was 10.2%. AGF Trust is supervised by the federal Office of the Superintendent of Financial Institutions,
AGF Trust is a member of the Canada Deposit Insurance Corporation ('CDIC”), which provides a statutory scheme for the
insurance of certain qualifying deposits made and payable in Canada in Canadizan currency. CDIC has also established by-laws,
which, among other reguirements, require AGF Trust to operate under certain standards of sound business and financial practices.

Future Accounting and Reporting Changes

The fellowing is a summary of accounting and reparting changes the Company expects te adopt in future pericds. See Note 2 to our
Consolidated Financial Statements for details of future accounting and reporting changes.

Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities

The Canadian Accounting Standards Beard issued a revised guideline on the consolidation of variable interest entities, which will
impact us in the first quarter of fiscal 2005. We are currently reviewing Limited Partnership Financings as described in the "0ff
Balance Sheet Arrangements” section to determine if any of these relationships would require censolidation. Consolidation of
these entities would nat have a significant impact on net inceme.
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Financial Instruments, Hedges and Comprahensive Income

The CICA has issued two proposed accounting standards: Financial Instruments — Recognition and Measurement and Hedges, and
ong new accounting standard - Comprehensive Income. These standards are substantially harmonized with U.S. GAAP and are
effective for us beginning with the first quarter of fiscal 2007. The principal impact of the standards are detailed below.

Comprehensive income will be a new component of shareholders” equity and a new statement entitled Statement of
Comprehensive Income will be added to our primary Consolidated Financial Statements.

Financial assets will be required to be classified as available far sale, held to maturity, or trading.

For fair value hedges, where we are hadging changes in the fair value of assets, liahilities or firm commitments, the change in
the value of derivatives and hedged itemns will be recorded through incorne. For cash flow hedges where we are hedging the variability
in cash flows related to variable rate assets, liabilities or forecasted transactions, the effective portion of the changes in the fair values
of the derivative instruments will be recorded through comprehensive income until the hedged items are recognized in incorme.

Fourth Quarter Analysis

Summary of Consolidated Operating Results
The table below highlights our results fer the three months ended November 30, 2004 and 2003:

[$ millions, except per share amounts)

Three months ended November 30 2004 2003 % change
Revenue $ 1868 $ 1539 1.7%
Expenses 134.8 70.5 49.1%
EBITDA' 21.8 63.4 [65.6%)
Amertization 39.4 40.7 (3.2%]
Interest expense 1.1 2% [47.6%)
Income taxes (10.6] 464 (122 .8%])
loss $ [8.1) $ (259 (68.6%)
Cash flow from operations? $ 15.4 $ 50.0 [69.3%)

Per share amounts - diluted

Cash flow from operations $ 0,17 % 0.54 (68.5%)
Earnings $ (0.09) $ 027 (66, 7%)
Return on equity [3.5%]) [11.2%)

' As previously defined, see the "Key Performance Indicators and Non-GAAP Measures - EBITDA” section. The items required to reconcile EBITDA to net income,
a defined term under Canadian GAAP, are detaited above,

?Cash flow from operations before net change in non-cash balances related to operations.

Revenue for the fourth guarter ended November 30, 2004 was up 1.7% from the same period in 2003, with the Invesiment
Management Operations segment contributing an increase of $4.2 million and the Trust Company Operations segment con-
tributing an increase of $2:5 million. These increases were offset by a reducticn in revenues in the Fund Administration
Operations segment of $5.4 million.
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Expenses in the fourth quarter ended November 30, 2004 increased by $44.4 million over the same period a year age, with
the change attributable to the $31.0 million expense related to the 0SC agreement and higher SG&A associated with the acqui-
sition of P.J. Doherty and Cypress, as well as non-recurring compensation expenses related to the reorganization of the sales
and marketing functions and a $3.0 million provision recorded in the Fund Administration Operations segment related to vacated
premises.

Cash flow from operations and EBITDA were lower for the quarter ended Naovember 30, 2004, compared with the respective
quarter in 2003, predominantly due to higher expenses as noted above.

Our income tax benefit for the three maonths ended November 30, 2004 was $10.6 million, as compared to our income tax
expense of $4£46.4 million in the three months ended Novernber 30, 2003. In April 2004, we acquired net tax-related benefits of
$15.7 million, of which $5.0 million were recegnized in the three months ended November 30, 2004. The tax expense recerded in
the fourth guarter of 2003 included a $40.2 million charge related to the change in future Ontario provincial income tax rates.

The net effect of these items resulted in a reduced loss in the fourth quarter of 2004 as compared with the corresponding
quarter in 2003. The details of the 2004 fourth quarter results for each business segment follow.

Investment Management Operations

Asseis Under Management

The following table illustrates the composition of the changes in mutual fund AUM during the three months ended
Novemnber 30, 2004 and 2003:

($ millions]
Three months ended November 30 2004 2003 % change
Mutual fund AUM, beginning of period $ 22,989 $ 22987 G.0%
Gross sales of mutual funds 534 594 (10.4%])
Redemption of mutual funds (1,374 (1.010 36.0%
Net mutual fund redemptions 840 414 25.6%
Market appreciation of fund portfolios 598 595 0.5%
Mutual fund AUM, end of period $ 22,747 $ 23,168 (1.8%]
Institutional and PIM AUM 8,621 5,049 70.7%
Total AUM $ 31,348 $ 28217 11.2%
Average daily mutual fund AUM for the period $ 22,753 $ 23018 (1.2%)
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Portfolio rebalancing by an institutional client contributed $150 million to net redemptions in the fourth quarter of 2004.
During the three months ended Novernber 30, 2004, the Canadian-dollar-adjusted S&P 500 Index fell 3.2%, the Canadian-

dollar-adjusted NASDAQ Index rose 3.1% and the S&P/TSX Composite Index rose 7.4%.

The impact of the U.S. doliar decline relative to the Canadian dollar on the market value of AGF mutual funds since

Augqust 31, 2004 has been a reduction in AUM of approximately $0.6 billion.

Net redemptions, partially offset by a $598 million increase in AUM resulting from portfolio returns, contributed to a

decline of mutual fund AUM fram $23.0 billion at August 30, 2004 to $22.7 billion at November 30, 2004,

Financial and Dperational Results

The table below highlights the Investment Management Operations segment results for the three months ended

November 30, 2004 and 2003.

($ miltions)
Three months ended November 30 2004 2003 % change
Revenue
Net management and advisory fees ¢ 1024 103.6 (1.1%]
Administration fees and other revenue 1342 9.6 37.7%
Deferred sales charges 10.5 ¢.2 14.9%
Investment income 0.5 0.0 n/m
$ 1266 122.4 3.5%
Expenses
Selling, general and administrative $ T4.6 26.7 179.6%
Trailing commissions 27.4 26.7 2.7%
Investment advisory fees 6.8 7.5 (9.3%)
Writedown of short-term investments 0.6 - nfm
$ 109.4 60.9 79.5%
EBITDA' $ 17.2 £1.5 [72.1%)
Amortization 352 3538 (1.6%)
Income (loss] before taxes and
ncn-segmented items $ 118.0) 25.7 (170.2%]

' As previously defined, see the “Key Performance Indicators and Non-GAAP Measures - EBITDA” section.
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The table below highlights the Fund Administration Operations segment results for the three months ended November 39, 2004

and 2003,
{$ millions)
Three months ended Movember 30 2004 2003 % change
Administration fees and other revenue $ 31.6 3 37.0 [14.7%)
Selling, general and administrative expenses 30.1 37.6 (19.8%]
EBITDA 1.5 (0.4) 345.1%
__Arnortization 3.9 4.3 (10.1%]
Loss before taxes and non-segmented items $ (2.4] $ (4.9) (51.9%]

' As previously defined, see the "Key Performance Indicators and Non-GAAP Measures - EBITDA section.

Trust Company Operations

Financial and Operational Results

The table belew highlights the Trust Company Operaticns segment results for the three months ended November 30, 2004

and 2003.
[$ millions)
Three months ended November 30 2004 2003 % change
Interest, administration fees and othar revenue $ 1.7 % 9.2 27.5%
Expenses
Selling, general and administrative expenses 29 2.0 43.3%
Interest on deposits 53 4.5 17.4%
Provision for tcan losses 0.5 0.3 64.5%
8.7 6.8 27.7%
EBITDA 3.0 2.4 26.8%
Amortization 0.3 0.2 75.5%
Income before taxes and non-segmented items $ 2.7 $ 2.2 22.5%

' As previously defined, see the "Key Performance Indicators and Non-GAAP Measures - EBITDA” section.
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Selected Quarterly Information

[$ millions, except per share amounts] Mow. 30, Aug. 31, May 31, Feb. 29,
For the three month period ended 2004 2004 2004 2004
Revenue % 156.6 $ 158.2 % 166.0 $ 159.1
Cash flow from operations’ 15.4 62.4 68.4 61.6
EBITDA? 218 76.2 79.0 75.5
Pretax income (18.7) 33.2 36.9 335
Net income (loss} [8.1] 27.6 34.0 23.8
Net income [loss) per share

Basic $ (0.08) $ 0.30 ¥ 0.37 $ 0.26

Diluted $ (0.09) $ 0.30 $ 0.37 % 0.26
Cash flow from operations per share'

Basic $ 017 $ 0.69 $ 0.75 $ 0.47

Diluted $ 0.17 $ 0.68 $ 0.74 $ 0.67
Weighted average fully diluted shares 91,798,233 91,941,879 92,117,368 92,230,930
[$ millions, except per share amounts) Mov. 30, Aug. 31, May 31, Feb. 28,
For the three month period ended 2003 2003 2003 2003
Revenue $ 153.9 $ 147.4 $ 140.8 $ 158.7
Cash flow from operations’ 50.0 5.8 50.8 51.9
EBITDA? 63.4 72.4 b646.7 81.8
Pretax income 20,8 30.4 25.9 40.3
Net income (loss) (25.8] 21.8 19.6 28.4
Net income (loss) per share

Basic $ (0.28) $ 024 $ 0 $ 0.31

Diluted $  (0.27) $ 023 $ 021 $ 0.30
Cash flow from cperations per share’

Basic $ 0.55 $ 0.67 $ 0.55 $ 0.57

Diluted $ 0.54 g 0.60 4% 0.55 $ 0.54
Weighted average fully diluted shares 92,846,779 92,762,982 92,282,350 93,221,674

" Cash flow from pperations before net change in non-cash halances related to operations.

? As previously defined, see the "Key Performance Indicators 2nd Non-GAAP Measures - EBITDA” section.
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[$ millions, except per share amounts]

For the years ended November 30 2004 2003 2002
Revenue 639.9 600.8 $ 6541
Cash flow from operations’ 207.8 208.5 267.0
EBITDA? 252.5 284.3 320.4
Pretax income 84.9 117.2 163.4
Net income 77.3 44.0 119.8
Net income per share

Basic 0.85 0.48 $ 1.34

Diluted 0.84 0.47 $ 1.30
Cash flow from operations per share

Basic 2.28 2.27 $ 2.97

Diluted 2.26 2.25 $ 2.91
Dividends per share 0.410 0.295 $ 0.255
Total corporate assets 2,167.8 1,967.0 $ 1,974.9
Total long-term debt 69.7 114.1 $ 2254

* Cash flow from operations before net change in non-cash balances relsted to operations.

? As previously defined, see the "Key Performance Indicators and Non-GAAP Measures - EBITDA” section.

Additional Information

Additional information relating to the Company can be found in the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements and
accompanying notes for the year ended November 30, 2004, the Company’s 2004 AIF and other documents filed with

applicable securities regulators in Canada and may be accessed at www.sedar.com.
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management’s responsibility for financial reporting

Toronto, January 24, 2005

The accompanying consolidated financial statements of AGF Management Ltd. were prepared by management, which is
responsible for the integrity and fairness of the information presented, including the amounts based on estimates and
judgments. These consolidated financial statements were prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted account-
ing principles. Financial information appearing throughout this Annual Report is consistent with these consolidated financiat
statements.

In discharging its responsibility for the integrity and fairness of the consolidated financial statements and for the
accounting systems from which they are derived, management maintains internal controls designed to ensure that transactions
are authorized, assets are safeguarded and proper records are maintained. The system of internal controls is supported by a
compliance function, which ensures that the Company and its employees comply with securities legislation and conflict of
interest rules, and by an internal audit staff, which conducts periodic audits of all aspects of the Company’s operations.

The Board of Directors oversees management’s responsibilities for financial reporting through an Audit Committee,
which is composed entirely of outside directors. This Committee reviews the consolidated financial statements of the
Company and recommends them to the Board for approval.

PricewaterhouseCoopers, independent auditors appointed by the shareholders of the Company upon the recommendation
of the Audit Committee, have performed an independent audit of the consolidated financial statements, and their report follows.
The shareholders’ auditors have full and unrestricted access to the Audit Committee to discuss their audit and related findings.

v —

Blake C. Goldring, CFA Greg Henderson, CA
President & Chief Executive Officer Senior Vice-President & Chief Financial Officer

24




AGF Management Limited / Annual Report 2004

auditors’ report

January 24, 2005

To the Shareholders of AGF Management Limited:

We have audited the consolidated balance sheels of AGF Management Limited as at November 30, 2004 and 2003 and the
consolidated statements of income, retained earnings and cash flows for each of the years in the two-year period ended
November 30, 2004. These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s maragement. Qur
responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require
that we plan and perferm an audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are tree of material mis-
statement. An audit includes examining, cn a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management,
as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.

In cur epinion, these consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
the Company as at Nevember 30, 2004 and 2003 and the results of its cperations and its cash flows for each of the years in
the two-year period then ended in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles.

%&LWM vy
Chartered Accountants
Toronto, Canada
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(in thousands of dollars)

Movember 30 2004 2003
Assets
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 118805 $ 88,905
Short-term investmenis 20,110 19,065
Accounts receivable and other assets 63,099 63,051
202,014 171,021
Mortgages and consumer loans (note 3] 707,306 494,318
Investment in associated company (note 4 108,802 108,692
Other investments 7,532 14,604
Management contracts £73,670 473,670
Customer contracts, relationships and investment advisory contracts,
net of accumulated amortization of $55,602 (2003 - $37,051) 123,842 101,918
Deferrad seiling commissions, net of accumulated amortization
of $735,093 (2003 - $613,370) 327,618 394,839
Property, equipment and other intangible assets,
net of accumulated amortization (note &) 52,356 59,7469
Goodwill [notes 4 and 5) 160,794 148,165
Other assets 3,892 -
$ 2,167 8Lk $ 1,966,996
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consolidated balance sheets

[in thousands of dotlars]
November 30 2004 2003

Lizbilities and Shareholders’ Equity
Current Liabilities

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 102,818 $ 60,756
Long-term debt due within one year [nate 7) 44,553 41,371

. Income taxes payable 1,046 19,283
148,417 121,410

Deposits [nete 3 761,232 535,200
Long-term debt {nate 7] 69,706 114,114
Participation units [note 7) 5,157 6,157
Future income taxes (note 11) 262,383 285,262
Leasehold inducernents 4,370 1,493

- Other liabilities 1,215 -
1,253,480 1,063,636

Shareholders’ Equity

Capital [note 12) 394,125 395,168
Contributed surplus [note 13} 1,781 50
Retained earnings 517,681 506,274
Foreign currency translation adjustrment 779 1,848
914,366 %03,340

$ 2,167,846 $ 1,966,996

Commitments [note 21]

Guarantees [note 22)

Contingent liabilities [note 23]

[See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements)

Approved by the Board:

C. Warren Goldring Douglas L. Derry, FCA
Director Director
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consolidated statements of income

lin thousands of dollars, except per share amounts)

Years ended November 30 2004 2003
Revenue
Net management and advisory fees $ 433,693 408,740
Administration fees, interest and other revenue 165,484 140,709
Deferred sales charges 39,067 40,543
Gain on sale of investment in associated company (note 4) = 12,758
Investment income 1,648 1,082
639,912 400,832
Expenses
Selling, general and administrative [note 15) 223,299 156,560
Trailing commissions 112,454 102,758
Investment advisery fees 30,413 30,591
Amortization of deferred selling commissions 121,723 116,993
Amortization of customer contracts, relationships and
investment advisory contracts 19 bh4 18,138
Amortization of property, eguipment and other intangible assets 20,189 22,326
Interest on Trust Company deposits 18,118 18,570
Interest expense 6,114 9,663
integration costs [note 16] - 5,400
Provision for Trust Cempany loan losses 2,504 1,967
Writedown of short-term investrments 612 643
555,030 483,609
Income before income taxes 84,882 117,223
Income tax expense [reduction] [note 11)
Current 45,486 62,052
Future (37.891) 11,155
7,595 73,207
Mel income for the year $ 77,287 44,016
Earnings Per Share [nate 14}
Basic $ 0.85 0.48
Dituted $ 0.84 0.47

[See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements)
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consolidated statements of retained earnings

[in thousands of dollars]

Years ended November 30 2004 2003
Retained earnings, beginning of year S 506,274 $ 495,819
Net income for the year 77,287 44,016
583,561 537,835
Deduct:
Dividends cn AGF Class A voting cornmon shares and
AGF Class B non-voting shares 37,474 27,150

[41.0¢ per share; 2003 - 29.5¢ per sharel
Excess paid over book value of AGF Ctass B non-voting shares
purchased for cancellation [note 12) 29,406 6,411

Retained earnings, end of year % 317,681 $ 506,274

(See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements)
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AGF Management Limited

consolidaied statements of cash flow

[in thousands of dotlars)
Years ended November 30 2004 2003

Operating Activities

Net income for the year $ 77,287 $ 44,016
ltems naot affecting cash -
Amortization of deferred selling commissions 121,723 116,993
Amortization of customer contracts, relationships and
investment advisory contracts 19,554 18,138
Amortization of property, equipment and other intangihle assets 20,189 22,326
Future income taxes 137,891} 11,155
Gain on sale of investment in associated company - [12,758)
Mark-to-market on swap transactions (197) -
Other 7,129 8,674
207,794 208,544
Net decrease in nen-cash balances related to operations 30,734 4,455
238,528 212,999

Financing Activities

Purchase of AGF Class B nen-voting shares for cancellation (37.438) (8,567]
Issuance of AGF Class B non-voting shares 2,789 6,484
Dividends (37,474 (27,150)
Decrease in bank loan [46,400) [104,900)
Net decrease in notes payable (7,825] [2,092)
Increase in leasehold inducements 3,230 140
Net increase in Trust Company deposits 226,032 66,132

102,914 (76,933

Investing Activities

Deferred selling commissions paid [54,504) [45,782)
Investment in associated company = (604)
Settlernent of hedge of investment in associated company (3,858] 4,528
Acquisition of third-party administraticn business - 6,555
Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired (15,967) (10,530]
Purchase of property, equipment and other intangible assets (11,358] (14,528)
Purchase of investments (14,986) (938)
Sale of investments 8,667 819
Net increase in Trust Company mcrtgages and consumer loans (215,542) [113,508)
(311,542 (171,988)
Increase |decrease) in cash and cash equivalents during the year 29,900 (35,920)
Balance of cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 88,905 124,825
Balance of cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 118,805 3 88,905
Represented hy:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 11,382 $ 5,838
Trust Company cash and cash equivalents 107,423 83,067
$ 118,805 $ 88,905

[See accempanying notes fo consolidated financial statements]
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notes to consolidated financial statements

Description of Business

AGF Management Limited ["AGF” or the "Company”] is incorparated under the Business Corporations Act [Ontario). AGF is an
integrated, global wealth management corporation whose principal subsidiaries provide mutual fund management, private
investment management far high-net-worth clients, trust products and services (including mortgage and investment lending
and deposii-taking activities), investment advisory services, third-party fund administration services, and investment industry
software development for individua! and institutional clients. AGF conducts the management and distribution of mutual funds
in Canada under the brand names AGF and Harmony lcollectively, the "AGF Funds™). AGF conducts its third-party fund
administration services and investment industry software developrnent under the names Unisen in Canada and Investmaster
in the U.K. and its trust business under the name of AGF Trust [the "Trust Company”).

Note 1: Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation

The consolidatad financial statements have heen prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted sccounting
principles. The consclidated financial statements include the accounts of AGF and its directly and indirectly ownad subsidiaries
and partnership as listed below. Intercompany transactions and balances are eliminated on consolidation. Investments over
which the company is able to exercise significant influence are accounted for by the equity method. Other long-term invest-
ments are recorded at cost and written down when there is evidence that a decline in value that is other than temporary has
occurred. Short-term investments are recorded at cost and written down to market value when market value declines below
recorded cost. Certain comparative amounts in these financial statements have been reclassified to conform with the current
year's presentation,

The principal entities of AGF are:

AGF Funds Inc.

AGF International Advisors Company Limited
AGF Asset Management Asia Ltd.

AGF Private Investment Management Limited
AGF Trust Company ["Trust Company”)

AGF Securities [Canada) Limited

AGF Securities, Inc.

AGF Limited Partnership 1998

AGF International Company Limited

Consort Information Systems Limited
Cypress Capital Management Ltd.
Investmasier Group Limited

Investmaster Holdings Limited

P.J. Doherty & Associates Co. Lid.

Unisen Holdings Inc.

Unisen Inc.

20/20 Financial Corporation
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Revenue Recognition
Management and advisory fees are based ¢n the net asset value of funds under management and are recognized on an
accrual basis. These fees are shown net of management fee rebates and distribution fees payable to third-party selling
commission financing entities.
Administration fees and other revenue are recognized on an accrual basis when the services are performed.
Deferred sales charge ["DSC”) revenue is received from investors when mutual fund securities sold on a DSC basis
are redeemed. DSC revenue is recognized on the trade date of redemption of the applicable mutual fund securities.
Interest income on mortgages and consumer leans, dividends and other investment income earned are recognized
cn an accrual basis in the period earned.

Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash egquivalents are composed of cash and temporary investments consisting of highly liquid investments with
short-term maturities.

Income Taxes
The Company follows the tiability method in accounting for income taxes, whereby future income tax assets and liabilities
reflect the expected future tax consequences of temporary differences batween the carrying amounts of assets and lia-
bilities and their tax bases. Future income tax assets and liabilities are measured based on the enacted or substantively
enactad tax rates that are expected to be in effect when the future inceme tax assets or liabilities are expected to be
realized or settled.

Foreign Currency Translation
Foreign currency denominated items are translated in Canadian dollars as fellows:

Financial statements of integrated foreign subsidiaries are translated using the temporal method. Under this
method, monetary assets and liabilities are translated inte Canadian dollars at the exchange rate in effect at the balance
sheet date. Non-monetary assets are translated at historical exchange rates. Revenue and expenses are translated at
average exchange rates for the period, except for amortization, which is translated on the same basis as the ralated
asset. Translation gains and lesses are included in net income.

Financial statements of self-sustaining aperations are translated using the current rate method. Under this method,
assets and liabilities are translated into Canadian dollars at the balance sheet date. Revenue and expenses are translated
at average exchange rates for the pericd. Translation gains and less are included in the foreign currency translation
adjustment account.

Investments in foreign associated companies and any related debt and foreign exchange forward contracts are
translated into Canadian dollars at the rate of exchange in effect at the balance sheet date. Unrealized translation gains
and losses are reported in a separate component of shareholders’ equity as a foreign currency translation adjustment,
See note 2, Changes in Accounting Policy and note 8, Interest Rate Swap and Foreign Exchange Hedge Transactions.

Deferred Selling Commissions
Selling commissions paid on mutual fund securities sold on a DSC basis are recorded at cost and are amortized on a
straight-line basis over a period that corresponds with the applicable DSC schedule (which ranges from three to seven
years). Unamortizaed deferred selling commissions are writien down to the extent that the carrying value exceeds the
expected future revenue on an undiscounied basis.
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Property and Equipment

Property and equipment, which is composed of furniture and equipment, computer hardware, leasehold improvements
and equipment under capital {ease, is stated at cost, net of accumulated amortization. Amortization is computed on the
following methods hased on the estimated useful lives of these assets:

Furniture and equipment 20% declining balance
Computer hardware 30% declining balance
Leasehold improvements straight-line over term of lease

Computer equipment under capital lease straight-line over term of lease

Goadwill and Management Contracts

The purchase price of acquisitions accountad for under the purchase method and the purchase price of investments
accounted for under the equity methed are allocated based on the fair values of the net identifiahle assets acquired,
including management contracts. The excess of the purchase price over the values of such assets is recorded as
gocdwill. Management contracts have been determined to have an indefinite life.

Goodwill and management contracts are not amortized, but are subject to impairment tests on at least an annual
basis. Goodwill is allocated to the reporting units and any impairment is identified by comparing the carrying value of a
reporting unit to its fair value, If any impairment is indicated, then it is quantified by comparing the carrying value of
goodwill to its fair value, based on the fair value of the assets and liabilities of the reporting unit. As of November 30, 2004,
AGF has comgleted its annual impairment testing on the carrying vatues of goodwill and management contracts. No
impairment losses were required to be recegnized as a result of this testing.

Finite Life Intangible Assets
Finite life intangible assets, which are cormposed of custamer contracts, relationships and investment advisory ccntracts,
computer software, television production and program rights, are stated at cost, net of accumulated amaortization.
Arortization is computed on the following methods based on the estimated useful lives of these assets:

Customer contracts and relationships straight-line over seven to 15 years
Investment advisory contracts straight-line over five years
Computer software straight-line over three to five years
Television praduction straight-line over two years
Program rights straight-line over five years




notes to consclidated financial statements

Mortgages, Consumer Loans and Allowances

Martgage loans are carried at amortized cost less principal repayments less any holdbacks, net of an allewance for
mortgage losses. Interest income from mortgages is recorded on an accrual basis. Accrued but uncollected interest on
uninsured mortgages is reversed when loans are placed on a non-accrual basis.

Consumer loans are carried at amortized cost less principal repayments, net of allowance for consumer loan losses,
Interest inceme from consumer loans is recorded on an accrual basis. Loans are classified as non-accrual when, in the
opinion of management, there is reasonable doubt as to the collectibility, either in whole or in part, of interest or principal
or when principal or interest is past due 90 days, except where the loan is both well-secured and in the process of col-
lection. In any event, a loan that is insured by the Federal Government or an agency thereof is classified as non-accrual
when principal or interest is past due 365 days, or in the case of other mortgage loans, when they are contractually in
arrears for 180 days. Thereafter, interest income is recognized on a cash basis only after specific provision for losses has
been recovered and provided there is no further doubt as to the collectibility of the principal.

The allowance for mortgage and consumer loan losses consists of both specific and general provisions. Spacific pro-
visions relate to individual loans that, in the opinicn of management, are necessary to reflect the estimated realizable
value of the particular loan. General provisions ars based on management's assessmeni of probable, unidentified losses
in the portfolio that have not been captured in the determination of the specific provisions. The assessment includes
general economic factors and geographic exposure.

Stock-Based Compensation and Other Stock-Based Payments

The Company has stock-based compensation plans as described in note 13(al. The Company utilizes the fair value-based
method of accounting for stock-based compensation. The Company adopted this standard for the year ended November 30,
2003 on a prospective basis. The fair value of share-based compensation is recorded as a charge to net earnings with a
corresponding credit to contributed surplus.

The Cempany also has a share purchase plan under which employees can have a portion of their annual earnings
withheld to purchase the Company’s Class B non-voting shares. The Company matches a portion of these amounts.
The Cempany’s centribution vests immediately and is recorded as a charge te earnings.

Assets Under Management

The Company manages mutual fund and other investment assets owned by clients and third parties that are not reflected
on the consolidated balance sheet.

Earnings Per Share
The Company uses the treasury stock method for calculating diluted earnings per share. The diluted earnings per
share calculaticn considers the impact of employee stock options and other potentially dilutive instruments, as
described in note 14.

Guarantees
Effective December 1, 2003, the Company adopted CICA Accounting Guideline 14, “Disclosure of Guarantees” ("AcG 147),
which requires a guarantar to disclose significant information about certain types of guarantees that it has provided,
including certain types of indemnities and indirect guarantess of indebtedness to others, without regard to the likelihood
of whether it will have to make any payments under the guarantees. The disclosure required by AcG 14 is in addition to
the existing disclosure required for contingencies and is provided in note 22.
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Use of Estimates
The preparation of financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements
and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the year. Actual amounts could differ from these estimates.
Key areas of estimation where management has made difficult, complex or subjective judgments, often in respect
of matters that are inherently uncertain, are the provision for useful lives of depreciable assets, loan loss provisions and
the recoverability of property, equipment, goodwill and intangible assets using estimates of future cash flows. In addition,
the Company has made significant investments in companies or businesses, some of which have experienced operating
losses. Significant changes in the assumptions, including those with respect to future business plans and cash flows,
could change the recorded amounts by a material amount. In addition, further operating losses of certain investees
could result in impairment of these investments.

Note 2: Changes in Accounting Policy

Hedging Relationships
On December 1, 2003, AGF adopted CICA Accounting Guideline 13, "Hedging Relationships” ("AcG 13", which addresses
the identification, designation, documentation and assessment of effectiveness of hedging transactions for the purpose
of applying hedge accounting as described in note 8.

Under this guideline the Company is required to document its hedging transactions and demonstrate that the
hedges are sufficiently effective in order to continue to be able to use hedge accounting for positions hedged with derivatives.
The Company reviewed its hedging relationships as of December 1, 2003 and determined that its cross-currency
swap transaction and certain interest rate swap transactions do not qualify for hedge accounting. As such, the Company

recorded these swaps at fair value, which increased both assets and liabilities as at December 1, 2003 by $1.4 million.
The deferred asset is being amortized over the remaining term of the swap and the expense of such amortization for the
year ended November 30, 2004 was $0.2 million {2003 - nil]. A credit of $0.2 million (2003 - nil] on the mark-to-market of
the swap transactions has been netted against interest expense for the year ended November 30, 2004. In each subse-
quent reporting period, the change in fair value of these swaps will be recorded as income or expense for the period.

Certain other interest rate swaps entered into by AGF Trust Company are designated as hedges, and the interest
payable or receivable under the swap transactions is accrued and recorded as interest expense.

Throughout 2003 and most of 2004, foreign exchange forward contracts were used to hedge the investment in Smith
& Williamson Holdings Limited ("S&WHL"). These contracts were designated as hedges and qualified for hedge accounting.
Any unrealized foreign exchange gains or losses on the forward contracts were recorded in a separate component of
shareholders’ equity as a foreign currency translation adjustment. When these contracts matured in late 2004, they were
not renewed.

Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities [(VIEs)
In June 2003, the CICA issued AcG 15, “Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities.” AcG 15 provides guidance for applying
consolidation principles to certain entities that are subject to control on a basis other than ownership of voting interests.
AcG 15 is effective for all annual and interim periods beginning on or after December 1, 2004. The company is currently
reviewing certain relationships to determine if any of these would require consolidation. Consolidation of these entities
would not have a significant impact on net income of the Company.
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Note 3: Trust Company

(a) Mortgages and Consumer Loans
The Trust Company’s principal business activities are mortgage and consumer loans and deposit taking. Details relating to
these activities are as follows:

$(000s) Term to maturity
Variable 1 year 1-5 Over 5 2004 2003
rate or less years years total total
Residential mortgage loans $ 2018 $ 154,875 $ 111,814 $ 155 $ 268,862 $ 202,625
Commercial mortgage loans - 9,524 7,230 - 17677,7754 ) 12,776
Total mortgage loans 2,018 164,399 119,044 155 7 285,616 215,401
Consumer loans 425,957 - - - 425,957 281,860
$ 427,975 $ 164,399 $ 119,044 $ 155 711,573 497,261
Less allowance for loan losses - 4,267 2,943
$ 707,306 $ 494,318
Impaired loans included in above $ 1,892 $ 1,506
Less specific allowance for loan losses 597 257
$ 1,295 $ 1,249

The change in the allowance for loan losses is as follows:

$(000s) 2004 2003
total total
Balance, beginning of year $ 2,943 $ 2,208
Write offs , (1,361] {1,249)
Recoveries 131 17
Provision for loan losses o 2,554 1,967
Batance, end of year $ 4,267 $ 2943

As at November 30, 2004, the Company’s mortgage portfolio was composed of a combination of fixed rate and
variable rate residential mortgages, of which $182.2 million is insured, with a weighted average term to maturity of 1.4
years and a weighted average yield of 5.95%. Consumer loans have floating interest rates based on prime.
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(b] Interest Rate Swaps
To hedge its exposure to fluctuating interest rates, AGF Trust Coempany has entered into interest rate swap transactions
with three Canadian chartered banks as noted below. The swap transactions expire between December 1, 2004 and
November 30, 2009 and involve the exchange of zither the one-month bankers’ acceptance rate or the three-month
bankers’ acceptance rate, to receive fixed interest rates. As at November 30, 2004, the aggregate notional amount of the
swap transactions was $553.2 million. The aggregate fair value of the swap transactions, which represents the amount
that would be received by AGF Trust Company if the transactions were terminated at November 30, 2004, was $6.9 mil-
lion (2003 - AGF Trust wauld have received $2.4 million].

Maotional amount of swap Maturity dale Fixed interest rate received
$ 7,000,000 2004 3.16%

63,500,000 2005 3.06% - 4.17%
107,000,000 2006 2.35% - 4.57%
138,700,000 2007 3.00% - 5.11%
137,000,000 2008 3.17% - 4.43%
102,000,000 2009 3.49% - £.59%

[c) Trust Company Deposits

$1000s) Term to maturity
1 year 1-5 Over 5 2004 2003
Demand or less years years total total
Deposits $ 3,863 $ 173,597 $ 580,734 $ 3,038 $ 761,232 $ 535,200

As at Novemher 30, 2004, deposits were compaesed substantially of guaranteed investment certificates with a
weighted average term ta maturity of 2.4 years and a weighted average interest rate of 3.89%.
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Note 4: Investment in Associated Company

On December 7, 2002, the merger of NCL and Smith & Williamson Heldings Limited ["S&WHL") and the cash subscription by the
Company of $70.0 million of new capital in the enlarged business were completed. With the completion of the merger and sub-
scription, the Company hetd a 30.0% interest in S&WHL. As at November 30, 2004 the Company held a 31.6% interest in S&WHL.
S&WHL provides independent private client investment management, financial advisory and accounting services in the U.K.

The Company recognized a pre-tax capital gain of $12.8 million ir the year ended Novernber 30, 2003 on the disposition
of its investment in NCL with respect to the completion of the above transaction.

The investment is being accounted for by the equity method, with the Company’s share of the results of operations of
S&WHL included in the consolidated financial statements from the date of purchase. The purchase price allocation and
consideration paid in December 2002 are summarized as follows:

$(000s)
Net assets acquired

Net tangible assets $ 22,453
Customer contracis and retationships 107,777
Goadwill ‘ 21,369
Future income taxes [32,334)
$ 119,265

Consideration paid [including acquisition costs]
Cash $ 70,598
Shares in NCL 48,667
$ 119,265

For the year ended November 30, 2004, the Company's share of the net earnings of S&WHL, net of amortization of
customer contracts and relationships, amounted to $2.2 million [2003 - $0.1 million] and the Company received dividends of
$3.6 million (2003 - $1.7 million].

Note b: Acquisitions

[a) Acquisition of Cypress Capital Management Ltd.
On June 30, 2004, the Company completed the acquisition of 100% of the shares of Cypress Capital Management Ltd.
["Cypress”) for censideration of $26.1 million, including $0.7 million of acquisition costs. The acquisition has been
accounted for by the purchase method of accounting, with the results of operations of Cypress included in the consolidated
financial statements from the date of the acquisition. In additien te the future payments detailed below, there is alsc
potential additional consideration due three years after the completion of the acquisition, subject to Cypress achieving
certain revenue levels. These amounts are not determinable at the present time. The acquired business, which is based
in Vancouver, is an investment counselling firm for high-net-worth individuals and institutions. The value attributed to
customer contracts is being amortized on a straight-line basis over 15 years.
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The fair value of the net assets acquired and consideration paid are summarized as follows:

$(000s)
Net assets acquired

Cash % 351
Other assets 1,625
Customer contracts 28,480
Goodwill 7,269
Current liabilities (1,351)
_ Future income tax (10,287)
$ 26,087

Consideration paid [including acquisition costs]
Cash $ 7.887
285,553 AGF Class B non-voting shares issued 5,200
Future payments due June 30, 2005 6,500
Future payments due June 30, 2006 ) 6,500
b 26,087

(b) Acquisition of P.J. Deherly & Associates Co. Ltd.
On January 15, 2004, the Company completed the acquisition of 100% of the shares of P.J. Doherty & Associates Co. Ltd.
["P.J. Doherty”] for consideration of $12.2 millicn, including $0.3 million of acquisition costs. The acquisition is being accounted
for by the purchase method of accounting, with the resulis of operations of P.J. Doherty included in the consolidated financial
statements from the date of acquisition. Cash censideration paid amounted to $9.4 million, with future payments of
$2 .8 million due within one year. A portion of these future payments is contingent on the businass maintaining certain
revenue levels, There is also potential additional consideration that may become payable based on revenue growth during
the two-year period subsequent to completion of the acquisition. These amounts are not determinable at the present time.
The acquired business, which is based in Ottawa, is an investment counselling firm for high-net-worth individuals and
institutions. The value attributed to customer contracts is being amortized on a straight-line basis over 15 years.

The fair value of the net assets acquired and consideration paid are summearized as follows:

$1000s)
Net assets acquired

Cash % 468
Other assets 8
Custemer contracts 13,015
Goodwill 3,360
Current Liahilities (233]
Future income tax (4,701]
$ 12,227

Consideration paid lincluding acguisition costs)
Cash $ 9,451
Future payments due within one year — 2,776
3 12,227
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Acquisition of Consert Informatien Systems Limited
On April 17, 2003, the Company, through its wholly owned subsidiary, [nvestmaster Group Limited, acquired all of the
outstanding shares of Consart Infoermation Systems Limited ["CISL’) for consideration of $%.4 million, including acquisi-
tion costs of $0.4 million. Cash consideration paid, including acquisition costs, amounted to $8.3 million, with a future
paymeant of $1.1 million due on January 31, 2004. CISL is based in the U.K. and is a supplier of customized software to
the U.K. private client stockbroking industry. The acquisition is being accounted for by the purchase method of accounting,
with the results of operations of CISL included in the consolidated financial statements from the date of acquisition. The
value attributed to the acquired software is being ameortized on a straight-line basis over five years.

The fair value of the net assets acquired and consideration paid are summarized as follows:

$(000s)
Net assets acquiraed

Cash $ 809
Other current assets 1,889
Property and equipment 264
Software 9,473
Goodwill 1,150
Liahilities {1,337]
Future income taxes 3 [2,842]
- 5 9,406

Consideration paid (including acquisition costs)
Cash £ 8,339
Payment due January 31, 2006 = 1,067
$ 9,406

(d)

le]

Acguisition of Third-Party Administratien Business from The Toronto-Dominion Bank

On January 31, 2002, the Company acquired The Toronte-Dorninion Bank's third-party shareholder record-keeping and
fund valuation business far cash cansideration of $25.5 million, including acquisition costs of $0.5 mitlion. The transaction
was an asset purchase, with the entire purchase price being assigned to customer contracts and relationships.

The purchase price was subject to a clawback based on client revenues received during the 12-month period ending
January 31, 2003. Based on this provision, a repayment of purchase price in the amount of $6.6 million was received by
the Company in the third quarter of fiscal 2003 and was recorded as a reduction in the value of customer centracts and
relationships acquired.

Acquisition of Jewelstone Systems Inc.
On September 15, 2002, the Camgpany acguired all of the outstanding shares of Jewelstone Systems Inc. for consideration
of $5%.7 million, including acquisition costs of $0.5 million, with potential payments to a maximum of $5.0 million
payable on or before December 31, 2004, conditional on the achievernent of certain cperational targets.

Subsequent to the determination of the above purchase equation, additional payments of $2.0 million were made to

' the vendors during 2004 (2003 - $3.0 million) based on the achievement of operational targets set out in the share purchase

agreement. These payments were recorded as an increase in goodwill.
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Note 6: Property, Equipment and Other Intangible Assets

$(000s) Accumulated
Maovember 30, 2004 Cost amaortization Met

Property and equipment

Furniture and equipment § 22446 $ 13,976 $ 8,470
Leasehold improvements 20,780 11,108 Q9,672
Computer hardware 48,950 35,488 13,462
Computer equipment under capital lease 4,237 1,772 2,465
Total property and equipment 96,413 62,344 34,069

Other intangible assets

Computer software 53,663 35,376 18,287
Total other intangible assets 53,863 35.374 18,287
$ 150,074 $ 97,720 $ 52,356

$(000s) Accumulated
Movember 30, 2003 Cost armortization Net

Property and equipment

Furniture and equipment $ 21,705 $ 11,912 $ 9,793
Leasehold improvements 19,255 8,242 10,013
Cormnputer hardware 46,840 32,673 14,1467
Computer equipment under capital lease 4,191 . 837 3,354
Total property and equipment 91,991 94,664 37,327

Other intangible assets

Computer software 48,675 26,233 22,447
Television production and program rights 4,955 4,955 -
Total other intangible assets 55,630 33,188 22,442

$ 147,621 $ 87,852 $ 59,769
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Note 7: Long-Term Debt

$(000s)
MNovernber 30 2004 2003

Bank loans

Fully amortizing term loan $ 35,400 $ 70,800
Revolving term loan 43,300 54,300
Notes payable due November 22, 2004 - 4,970
Notes payable due April 30, 2013 19,327 21,230
Payment re CISL due January 31, 2006 (note 3¢) 1,067 1,067
Cypress payments due June 30, 2005 [note 3a) 5,500 =
Cypress payments due June 30, 2004 (note 5a) 6,500 -
Capital lease cobligations 2,165 2,883
Loan notes due September 30, 2004 = 235
114,259 155,485
Less: amount included in current liabilities 44,553 41,37
$ 69,706 $ 114,114

[al Bank Locans

Fully Amortizing Term Loan

The Company has arranged a fully amortizing five-year term loan with a Canadian chartered bank, which is repayable in
equal quarterly instalments over the period of 20 quarters following advance plus interest payable. This loan will be fully
repaid by Navember 20, 2005. The facility can be funded by direct advances and/or bankers’ acceptances {"BAs"]). At
November 30, 2004, the Company has drawn the facility in the form of a 91-day BA at an effective interest rate of 3.12%
par annum.

Revolving Term Loan

Tne Company has arranged a 10-year prime rate-hased revolving term (can to a maximum of $150.0 million with a
Canadian chartered bank. Under the loan agreement, the Company is permitted to avail the revolving term loan by direct
advances and/or bankers’ acceptances. The revolving term loan is available at any time for a period of 344 days from
commencement of the loan [the "Commitment Period”]. The expiration of the current Commitment Periad is June 30, 2005,
However, the Company may reguest by April 15, 2005, and prior to April 15 in any calendar year thereafter, a recom-
mencement of the 10-year term at the expiry of the then-current Commitment Period. No repayment of the principal
amount outstanding pursuant to the revolving term loan is required during the first three years of the then-applicable
term. Thereafter, the toan balance shall be repaid in minimum monthly instalments of at least one-eighty-fourth of the
amount of principal outstanding.

As at November 30, 2004, the Company has drawn $43.3 millicr against the available loan amount in the form of
three- to 90-day BAs at an effective interest rate of 2.90% per annum.

Security for the bank leans includes a specific claim over the management fees owing from the mutual funds
(subject to the existing claims of related limited partnerships! for which the Company acts as manager and, depending
upen the amount of the loan outstanding, an assignment of AGF's investments in 20/20 Financial Corporation and AGF
International Company Limited.

12
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(b] Notes Payable Due April 30, 2013
Proceeds from notes payable issued to Multi-Fund Income Trust ["Multi-Fund”) were used to pay sales commissions
incurred on the sale of units of the Global Strategy funds purchased on a contingent deferred sales charge basis from
July 30, 1997 to June 30, 1998,

The notes payable bear interest at 5% per annum, accrued daily and payable monthly. Monthly repayments of interest
and principal are required until the full principal amount of the notes is repaid or April 30, 2013, whichever comes first.
Maonthly repayments are determined based on a specified percentage (up to 0.47% per annum) of the net asset value of
mutual fund assets financed by Multi-Fund ["Distributed Securities”). Monthly repayments will also include all contin-
gent deferred sales charges received by the Company related to Distributed Securities.

Multi-Fund has no recourse to any other assets of the Company to satisfy any amount payable in respect of the notes.

{c) Participation Units

After the notes payable referred to in note 7(b) are repaid in full and prior to April 30, 2013, Multi-Fund will be entitled to
up to 0.52% per annum of the net asset value of then-outstanding Distributed Securities (together with all cantingent
deferred sales charges relating to the Distributed Securities, if any] under the terms of the participation fee agreement
with Multi-Fund.

The participation uniis have been accounted for as a deferred credit. #f the notes payatle are repaid in full prior to
April 30, 2013, the deferred credit will be amortized over the remaining period to that date. Otherwise, the entire amount
will be recognized as revenue on April 30, 2013.

(d) Capitzl Lease Obligations
The capital lease is based on an interest rate cf 5.35% per annum and expires August 31, 2007. Minimum annual lease
payments are as follows:

${000s)
2005 $ 848
2006 848
2007 636

(e} Minimum Principal Debt Repayments

$(000s)
2005 $ 44,553
2006 10,261
2007 2,024
2008 8,088
2009 8,088
Thereafter 40,745

(fl Interest Rate Sensitivity
The effect of a 1% change in interest rates would increase or decrease annual pre-tax income of the Company by
appraoximately $0.5 mitlion.
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Note 8: interest Rate Swap and Foreign Exchange Hedge Transactions

To fix the interest rate paid on a portion of its long-term debt, the Company has entered into three interest rate swap transac-
tions {the "Swap Transactions”] with a Canadian chartered bank. The Swap Transactions expire between October 28, 2007 and
January 27, 2008. They involve the exchange of three-month bankers” acceptance fleating interest rates for fixed interest rates
of 5.47% to 5.56% per annum. As at November 30, 2004, the aggregate notional amount of the Swap Transactions was $30.2
million (2003 - $3%.8 million). The aggregate fair value of the Swap Transactions, which represents the amount that would be
paid by the Company if the transactions were terminated at November 30, 2004, was $1.2 million [2003 - $1.7 million).

To hedge its currency exposure and to fix the interest rate on berrowings In cennection with a Japanese yen-denominated
investment, the Company has entered into a cross-currency swap transaction that expires on November 29, 2005. It involves
the exchange of three-month bankers’ acceptance floating interest rates on a notional amount of CDN $2.9 million for a fixed
interest rate of 0.56% per annum on a notional amount of JPY ¥256.0 million. The aggregate fair value of the cross-currency
swap transaction, which represents the amount that would be paid by the Company if the transaction was terminated at
November 30, 2004, was nil (2003 - $0.2 million would have been received by the Company).

To hedge its currency expesure in connection with its investment in U.K.-based S&WHL, an associated company, the
Company entered into foreign exchange farward contracts to sell U.K. £50.0 million on November 29, 2004 at an average
exchange rate of 2.1820 for CON $109.1 million. Effective July 29, 2004, the Company redesignated 85% of the U.K. £50.0 million
as being a hedge of its currency exposure in connection with its investment in S&WHL.

On July 29, 2004 the Company also entered inte a foreign exchange forward contract te purchase U.K. £7.5 million on
Novemnber 29, 2004 at an exchange rate of 2.3902 for CON $17.9 million. The fair value of this contract has been recorded in
income, effectively offsetting the 15% portion of the U.K. £50.0 million contract, which has zlso been recorded in income.

The Company subsequently determined that it wouid no longer hedge its currency exposure in connection with its invest-
ment in S&WHL. As such, when all the swaps related to the S&WHL investment matured on November 2%, 2004, the
Company did not enter any new swaps.

Note 9: Fair Value of Financial Instruments

2004 2003

$(000s) Carrying Estimated Carrying Estimated
MNovember 30 value fair value value fair value
Martgages and consumer loans $ 707308 $ 710,326 $ 494,318 $ 497,174
Short-term investments 20,110 24 438 19,065 21,453
Other investments 7,532 8,751 14,604 146,550

S 734,948 % 743,515 $ 527,987 $ 535,177
Depesits & 761,232 $ 747,985 $ 535,200 % 540,606

The estimated fair value of loans and deposits is determined by discounting the future cash flow at prevailing interest rates
for loans and deposits with similar terms and applicable credit risks.

The estimated fair value of securities with an available trading market is based on their quoted market value.
Investments that have no trading market are valued based on management estimates using common valuation techniques.
Other financial assets and financial liabilities of the Company are recerded at cost, which approximates fair value.

Short-term investments include $19.7 millicn (2003 - $18.3 million] in investments in various AGF Funds,
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Note 10: Limited Partnership Financings

Selling commissions paid on certain sales of mutual fund securities of the AGF Funds made on the DSC basis ("DSC securities”)
have been financed by limited partnerships held by third-party investors. Up to November 30, 2004, such limited partnerships
have financed selling commissions of approximately $440 million in respect of such D5C securities. The Company is obligatad to
pay the relevant limited gartnership an annual fee of 0.47% to 0.90% of the net asset value of DSC securities. The limited part-
nerships also receive any deferred sales charges resulting from the redemption of such securities. These obligations continue
as long as such DSC securities remain outstanding except for certain of the limited partnerships, in which case the obligation
terminates at various dates from December 31, 2006 to December 31, 2020. For certain limited partnerships, the obligation is
secured by the Company’s mutual fund management contracts to the extent of the particular obligation.

The Company is respensible for the rnanagement and administration of the limited partnerships. These services are provided
in the normal course of operations and are recorded at the amount of consideration agreed to by the parties. The amount of fees
received in 2004 was $0.8 million (2003 - $0.9 million). As at Novemnber 30, 2004, the net asset value of DSC securities financed
by the limited partnerships was $2.2 hillion (2003 - $2.7 hillien),

Note 11: Income Taxes

[a] The Company's effective income tax rate is composed as follows:

Years ended Movember 30 2004 2003
Canadian corperate tax rate 36.0% 36.7%
Change in future federal and provincial income tax rates - 343
Acquisition of tax-related benefits (net] [18.5] -
Rate differential on earnings of subsidiaries [12.8] (8.2]
Tax benefit of losses of fareign subsidiaries not recognized 1.8 0.9
Amortization of custerner contracts and relationships 1.5 0.6
Tax-exernpt investment income (1.6] (2.3}
Other ) 25 0.5
Effective income tax rate 8.9% 62.5%
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notes to consolidated financial statements

(b] Significant components of the provision for future income tax expense atiributable to continuing operations are as follows:

$(000s)

Years ended November 30 2004 2003
Change in temporary differences % (37.891) $ (29,0121
Tax rate changes = 40,167
Future income tax expense (benefit] % (37,891} $ 11,155

" This is a result of the repeal of scheduled Ontaris corporate income tax rate reductions for 2004 to 2006 and the increase in the Ontario income tax rate to 14%
effective on January 1, 2004,

{c] The tax effects of temporary differences that gave rise to future tax liabilities and assets are as follows:

%(000s)
November 30 2004 2003

Future income tax liability

Deferred sales commissions % [113,845) $  {133,930]
Deferred revenue 2,210 2,206
Undepreciated capital cost less than carrying values [2,894] (3,898)
Loss carryforwards 3,753 2,004
Expenses deductible in future periods 12,291 1,793
Share issue costs 434 862
Goodwill and management contracts (163,829 (154,294}
Other (501) 33
Future income tax liahility $  262,383) $ (285,262)

(d] As at November 30, 2004, certain subsidiaries of the Company have accumulated aggregate income tax losses of
approximately $26.9 million (2003 - $18.2 million] that may be used to reduce taxable income in the future. These tax
loss carryforwards expire as follows:

$10.4 million 2007 to 2011
$14.5 million no expiry date

The potential tax benefits of $16.5 million of these losses have not been recognized in the consolidated financial statements.
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Note 12: Capital Stock

(a) Authorized Capital

The authorized capital of AGF consists of an unlimited number of AGF Class B non-voting shares ["Class B shares”) and
an unlimited number of AGF Class A voting common shares ["Class A shares”]. The Class B shares are listed for trading

on the Toronte Stock Exchange.

[b} Movement During the Year
The change in capital stock is summarized as follows:

Mumber of $(600s)
shares issued Amount

Class B Shares
Batance, November 30, 2002 91,043,109 390,840
Issued through dividend reinvestment plan 2,047 141
Stock options exercised 1,665,867 6,343
Purchased for cancellation {503,300} [2,158)
Balance, November 30, 2003 92,214,723 395,148
tssued on acquisition of a subsidiary 285,553 5,200
Issued through dividend reinvestment plan 12,405 214
Stock options exercised 326,582 2,575
Purchased for cancellation (2,099,800) (9.032)
Balance, November 30, 2004 90,739,463 394,125

Class A Shares
Balance, November 30, 2004 and 2003 57,600 -
Total stated capital, November 30, 2004 [2003 - $395,148) 394,125

{c) Class B Shares Purchased for Cancellation

AGF has obtained applicable regulatory approval to purchase for cancellation, from time to time, certain of its Class B
shares through the facilities of the Toronte Stock Exchange. Under this issuer bid the Company may purchase up to 10%
of the public float outstanding on the date of receipt of regulatory approval or up to 7.6 million Class B shares. Present
approval for such purchases extends through to February 2005. During the year ended November 30, 2004, 2,099,800
Class B shares were purchased at a cost of $37.4 million and the excess paid over the book value of the shares purchased
for cancellation was charged to retained earnings. It is the Company's intention to file for a one-year extension of the

regulatory approval to purchase Class B shares for cancellation.
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notes to consolidated financial statements

Note 13: Stock-Based Compensation and Other Stock-Based Payments

[a]l Stock Option Plans

AGF has established stock option plans for senior employees under which stock options to purchase an aggregate maxi-
mum of 6,591,088 Class B non-voting shares could have been granted as at November 30, 2004. The stock options are
issued at a price not less than the market price cf the Class B non-veting shares immediately prior to the grant date.
Stock options are vested to the extent of 25% to 33% of the individual's entiflerent per annum, or in some instances

100% vest at the end of the term cof the option.
The change in stock options during 2003 and 2004 is summarized as follows:

Weighted
Mumber of average
options exercise price

Class B Share Dptions
Balance outstanding, November 30, 2002 4,983,947 $ 12.60
Options granted 130,000 $ 17.24
Options cancelled _ {178,000) $ 20.54
Options exercised {1,645,867) $ 3.81
Balance outstanding, November 30, 2003 3,270,080 % 16.84
Options granted 790,000 % 18.84
Options cancelled [166,894] $ 22.08
Optians exercised {326,582 % 7.89
Balance autstanding, Novemnber 30, 2004 3,566,604 % 17.86
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The following surmmarizes information about stock options outstanding as at November 30, 2004:

Number of Weighted Weighted Number of Weighted

Range of options average average options average
exercise prices oulstanding  remaining life exercise price exarcisable EXErCiSe price
$ 277 to $ 14.18 704,712 1.2 years $ 10.9% 702,712 $ 10.98
$ 1452 to $ 1452 725,000 4.8 $ 1452 - $ -
$ 1687 to $ 1844 440,200 4.2 % 17.68 272,700 $ 17.79
$ 1894 to $ 18.94 691,667 8.6 % 18.94 - $ -
$ 2073 to $ 2253 598,300 45 $ 22.46 314,700 $ 22.43
$ 2353 to $ 27.73 406,725 35 $ 27.27 320,637 % 2714
3.566,604 45 $ 17.86 1,610,949 $ 17.59

The outstanding stock options have expiry dates ranging from January 2005 to December 2013. The Company or
employee is required to meet performance criteria for certain of the options to vest.

During 2004 the Company granted 790,000 options (2003 - 130,000) and recorded $1.8 million (2003 - $0.1 million]
in compensation expense and contributed surplus in respect of the opticns granted during the year. The fair value of
options granted during 2004 has been estimated at between $2.72 and $5.41 per share (2003 - $6.10 per share) using the
Black-Scholes option-pricing model. The following range of assumptions were used to determine the fair value of the
options on the date of grant:

Risk-free interest rate 4.09% - £.63%

Expected dividend yield 1.68% - 1.86%

Expected share price volatility 31.95% - 33.19%

Opticn term 7.0 to 10.0 years
{b) Share Purchase Plan

Under the Company’s share purchase plan, eligible employees can have a percentage of their annual earnings withheld,
subject to a maximum of 6%, to purchase the Company’s Class B non-voting shares. The Company matches up to 60% of
the amounts contributed by employees. All contributions are used by the plan trustee to purchase common shares on
the open market. Shares purchased with Company contributions vest immediately. The Cempany’s contributions are
recorded in payroll costs. For the year ended November 30, 2004 these expenses totalled $0.6 million (2003 - $0.5 million).
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notes to consolidated financial statements

Note 14: Earnings Per Share

The following table sets forth the calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share:

[$000s, except per share amounts]

Years ended Movember 30 2004 2003
Numerator
Net income for the year $ 77,287 $ 44,014
Denominator
Weighted average number of shares - basic 91,315,426 1,926,350
Dilutive effect of employee stock optiens 482,807 920,429
Weighted average number of shares - diluted 91,798,233 92,846,779
Earnings per share:
Basic $ .85 $ 0.48
Dituted % 0.84 $ 0.47

Note 15: Investor Compensation

On December 16, 2004, the Ontario Securities Commission ["0SC"] reached an agreement with four mutual fund companies
lincluding AGF] over allegations of market timing in Canada’s mutual fund industry. As a result of the agreement, AGF has
agreed to compensate individual investors in certain international funds targeted by market timers between August 2000 and
June 2003. Included in seiling, general and administrative expenses for the year endad November 30, 2004 is $31.0 million in

expenses relating to compensation of AGF unitholders.

Note 16: Integration Costs

During fiscal 2003, Unisen Inc. moved the majority of its staff to one location and reviewed its staffing requirements. Also, the
Company reassessed its lease termination costs in light of a change in the condition of the Toronto office real estate market.
Based on this review the Company recorded a $5.4 million integration charge for the year ended November 30, 2003, consisting

of $4.6 million in lease termination costs and $0.8 million in severance costs.
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Note 17: Agreements with Mutual Funds

The Company acts as manager for the AGF Funds and receives management and advisory fees from the AGF Funds in
accordance with the respective agreements between the funds and the Company. In return, the Company is responsible for
management and investment advisory services and all costs connected with the distribution of securities of the funds.
Substantially all the management and advisory fees the Company earned in 2004 and 2003 were from the AGF Funds. As at
November 30, 2004, the Company had $22.0 mitlion {2003 - $22.4 million] receivable from the AGF Funds. The Company alsa
acts as trustee for the AGF Funds that are mutual fund trusts.

The Company directly provides unitholder services to the funds and is compensated for such services, These services
are provided in the narmal course of operations and are recerded at the amount of consideration agreed to by the parties.
The aggregate unitholder services casts absorbed and management and advisory fees waived by the Company during the
year were approximately $6.4 mitlion (2003 - $4.8 million).

Note 18: Related Party Transactions
The Company has entered inte certain transactions with entities, the partners or senior officers of which are directors of the
Company. During 2004, total amounts paid by the Company to these related parties aggregated $0.1 million (2003 - $0.1 million].

Note 19: Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Information

Interest payments in 2004 were $24.2 million {2003 - $78.3 million).
income tax payments in 2004 were $51.8 million (2003 - $52.9 million),

Note 20: Segment Information

AGF has three reporiable segments: Investment Management Operations, Fund Administraticn Operations and Trust
Company Operations. The investment management segment provides investment management and advisory services and is
responsible for the management and distribution of the AGF investment products. Fund administration offers fund adminis-
trative services and transfer agency solutions to institutional clients, including the Company’s group of mutual funds. AGF
Trust Company offers a wide range of trust services, including GICs, mortgages, investment loans and RRSP loans. AGF's
reportable segments are strategic business units that offer different products and services.
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The results of the reportable segments are based upon the internal financial reporting systems of AGF. The accounting
policies used in these segments are generally consistent with those described in the summary of significant accounting
policies detailed in note 1.

$(000s) Investment Fund Trust Inter-
For the year ended management administration company segment
Movember 30, 2004 operations operations  operations Other elimination Tatal
External revenue $ 515,904 $ 80,333 $ 41,451 $ 2224 % - $ 639,712
Intersegment revenue 4,431 48,771 1,149 - (54,351) -
7 Segment revenue 520,335 129,104 42,600 2,224 (54,351) 639,912

Operating expenses 295,401 114,939 31,461 6,114 {54,351) 393,564
Amaortization 144,777 15,486 1,203 - - 167,466
Integraticn costs - = - - - -
Segment income {loss)

hefore taxes $ 80,157 $ (1,321 % 9,936 $  [3,890) $ = % 84,882
Included in external revenue

Interest revenue % 815 % el $ 39,392 % - % - $ 40,238
Total assets $1,070,067 $ 159,483 % 829,489 $ 108,802 $ - $ 2,167,846
$(000s) Investment Fund Trust Inter-
For the year ended management administration company segment
Movember 30, 2003 operations operations  operations Other elimination Total
External revenue $ 476,838 $ 76,583 $ 34,487 $ 12,774 % = $ 600,832
Intersegment revenue 4,808 51,917 1,192 - (57,217] =
Segment revenue 481,646 128,500 35,879 12,724 [57,917) 600,832
Operating expenses 223,125 116,323 29,481 9,740 (57,917] 320,752
Armortization 140,037 14,462 Ol 2,046 = 157,457
Integration cests - 5,400 - - - 5,400
Segment income [loss)

hefore taxes $ 118,484 $ [7,685) % 5,486 $ 738 % - $ 117,223
Included in external revenue

Interest revenue $ 885 $ 9% $ 30,534 % b % = $ 31,523
Total assets $1,123,294 $ 144,122 $ 590,888 $ 108,692 $ - $ 1,966,996
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Note 21: Commitments

The Company is committed under operating leases for office premises and equipment that require approximate minimum
annual cash rental payments as follows:

$(000s)
2005 $ 6918
2006 6,5%4
2007 6,508
2008 4,925
2009 3,673
Thereafter 29,801

AGF Trust Company has outstanding mertgage commitments, at rates of interest prevailing at the time the commitments
were issued, of $37.7 million as at November 30, 2004 (2003 - $14.3 million). Any interest rate commitment has a term of less
than 60 days.

Note 22: Guarantees

The Company, under an indemnification agreement with each of the directors of the Company as well as directors of the
mutual fund corporations, has agreed to indernnify the directors against any cests in respect of any action or suit brought
against them in respect of the proper execution of their duties. To date, there have been no claims under these indemnities
and the Company does naot anticipate that any will eccur.

Note 23: Contingent Liabilities

There exists certain claims and potential claims against the Company, including potential class action lawsuits related to the
Company's agreement with the 0SC. None of these claims or potential claims are expected to have a material adverse effect
on the consolidated financial position of the Company.




consolidated ten-year review

2004 2003 2002 2001
Operations $(000s}
Total revenue 639,912 600,832 654,103 639,994
Net income 77,287 44,016 119,839 163,754
Dividends 37,474 27,150 22,967 19,577
Financial positien $(000s)
Working capital [deficit) 53,597 49,611 95,287 (9,950
Long-term debt 69,706 114,114 225,403 165,481
Shareholders’ equity 914,366 903,360 887,546 764,707
Return on equity’ 8.5% 4.9% 14.5% 26.3%
Per share [$]
Net income - basic 0.85 0.48 1.34 1.84
Dividends 0.41 0.295 0.255 0.22
Bock value 10.08 9.79 9.74 8.56
Mutual fund assets under management
at year-end $(000,000s) 22,747 23,148 23,549 27,827

' As percentage of average shareholders’ equity for the year.

* Harmony Pools included for years 2001 and later.




corporate governance practices

The Corparation establishes corporate governance practices that are consistent with the Torante Stock Exchange’s Guidelines
for Corporate Governance and the propesed National Policy 58-201. The Corporation will continue to review its corparate gov-
ernance practices in light of ongoing developments in this area. In particular, the Corporation will monitor recent guideline
changes proposed by the securities regulatory authorities. The Corporation and its subsidiaries are engaged in highly regu-
lated businesses and must comply with all the legislative and regulatary requirements for such businasses, including those
of securities commissions and regulaters of financial institutions.

The Board of Directors
Mandate of the Board

The Corporation’s Board has responsibility for the stewardship of the Corperation and discharges that responsibility by super-
vising the management of the husiness and monitoring the affairs of the Corporation. The Board has a written mandate, which
is reviewed annually. The Board reviews and discusses with management, at least annually, all material relating to the strate-
gic plan, which takes into account the risks and opportunities of the business. The Board also approves any transaction having
a significant impact on the strategic plan and ether significant decisions that affect the Corporation and its subsidiaries. The
Board assesses the effectiveness of the Board Committees based on reports from the Committees. The Board appoints the
Chief Executive Officer and other senicr management and discusses succession planning with management.

The Board meets with senior executives on a regular basis in order to receive and consider reports on the affairs of the
Corporation. The Board expects these reports to be comprehensive, accurate and timely. The Board approves all material
communications to shareholders, including press releases. The Board receives and approves annual and interim reports to
shareholders, including annual and interim financial statements and management discussion and analysis. The Board met
17 times for the fiscal year ended Novernber 30, 2004. Each of C. Warren Getdring, Winthrop H. Smith, Jr. and David King
missed one regularly scheduled Board meeting during the year. All other directors attended all regularly scheduled Board
meetings.

Board Representation and Independance frem Management

The Board comprises nine members, the majarity of whom are unrelated to the Corporation and its subsidiaries. This means
they are free from any interest and any business or other relationship that could reasonably be perceived to materially
interfere with their ability to act within the best interest of the Corporation, other than interest arising from shareholding.

The independent directors on the Beard are: Deuglas L. Derry, Stuart E. Eagles, David King, Winthrop H. Smith, Jr. and
William Morneau. Mr, Walter A Keyser is an outside director.

Representatives of management on the Board are: Mr. C. Warren Goldring, Mr. W. Robert Farquharson and Mr. Blake C.
Goldring, all of whom are “significant shareholders™ of the Corporation. Mr. C. Warren Goldring, the Corporation’s Chairman,
tegether with trusts for the benefit of the Goldring family, owns, directly or indirectly, 80% of the outstanding AGF Class A
voting cormmon shares of the Corperation. Mr. W. Robert Farquharsen, the Corporation’s Vice-Chairman and Chief Investment
Officer, owns, directly or indirectly, the remaining 20% of the AGF Class A veting common shares. Each of Messrs.

C.W. Geidring and W.R. Farguharson also owns a significant number of AGF Class B non-voting shares.
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2000 1999 1998 1997 1996 1995
508,681 i 356,703 288,822 236,759 178,993 87,628
95,931 61,710 48,777 40,489 22,403 14,896
14,092 11,642 9,970 6,491 6,272 6,159
[86,692) 55,348 40,186 30,903 5,476 84,638
278,061 72,048 81,422 38,000 60,000 72,950
480,091 284,244 233,383 192,173 115,565 62,366
25.1% 23.8% 22.9% 26.3% 25.2% 29.5%
1.23 0.80 0.64 0.55 0.37 0.34
0.18 0.15 0.13 0.09 0.10 0.13
5.78 3.64 3.03 253 1.85 1.26
26,979 18,705 15,015 12,429 10,075 4,471
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Committees of the Board

The Board has established three Commitiees: the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee, the Audit Committee
and the Compensation Committee. The mandate of each Committee is described below. Each independent director, who
serves as Chairman of a Committee, is responsible for directing the meetings of the Committee and for ensuring that the
roles and responsibilities of the Committee have been met. The Chairman of the Cormnmitiee is also responsible for reporting
to the Board on those matters that the Committee dealt with since the last regular meeting of the Board. Each Committee
reqgularly examines its effectiveness in fulfilling its roles and responsibilities and reports its findings to the Board. The
Committees may convene meetings without management present whenever the Committees feel it is necessary. Each
Chairman also acts as a liaison between management and the Board.

Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee
The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee has three members: Stuart E. Eagles [Chair), Walter A. Keyser
and William Morneau, all of whom are outside directors and twe of whom are unrelated.

This committee develaps the Corporation’s approach to governance issues and is actively involved in assessing the
Corporation’s compliance with corporate governance guidelines, including evaluating the size of the Board, its Committees
and its members. This committee regularly reviews corporate governance developments and makes recommendations to
the Board on ail such matters. It also develops the mandates for the Beard and for each Beard Committee, which are
reviewed annually by the Committee in order to make recommendations for any changes to the Board. The committee
also reviews and approves all individual directors’ requests to engage an outside advisor at the Corparation’s expense.

This committee also develeps programs and makes recommendations for the continuing education of existing
directors and the orientation of new directors. The Corporation regularly provides directors with updates on the mutual
fund and financial services industries and briefings on industry practices relating to corporate governance and other
relevant issues.

This committee recommends proposed new directors and establishes apprepriate criteria for directors. The committee
also reviews director compensation for adequacy and form of compensation, ensuring compensation is appropriate for
the responsibilities and risks assumad by the directors. The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee approves
the Corporation’s disclosure policy, which inciudes standards for communicating with analysts and the public. Additionally,
the committee develops a position description for the Chief Executive Officer, which is reviewed every three years.

During the year ended November 30, 2004, the Nominating and Corpcrate Governance Committee met three times.
These meetings included sessions at which management was not present.

Audit Committee
The Audit Committee has three members: Douglas L. Derry (Chair), David King and Winthrop K. Smith, Jr., all of whom
are cutside and unrelated directors. All members of the Audit Committee are financially literate.

This committee is directly responsible for overseeing the work of the Corporation’s external auditors. It is alsc
responsible for recommending the appeintment of the Corporation’s external auditors, subject te shareholder approval,
as well as reviewing their independence and objectivity. The committee pre-approves all non-audit services performed by
the Corporation’s external auditors to ensure that the performance of those services will not compromise their objectivity
or independence. The Audit Committee is responsible for conducting reviews and tnquiries of the Corperation’'s management
and the internat and external auditors, as it deems necessary. The purpose of such a review or inquiry is to establish that the
Corporation and its subsidiaries are applying apprepriate systems of internal controls to address the principal risks of the
Corporation, and to fulfill legislative and regulatery requirements.

In @ report to the Audit Committee, the Corporation’s management reported that procedures will be implemented in
early 2005 for the receipt, retention and treatment of complaints regarding internal accounting controls or auditing matters,
and the confidential, anonymeous submission by the Corporation’s employees regarding guestionable accounting and
auditing matters.

87




corporate governance practices

The effectiveness of internal controls in managing principal risk expesures is reviewed and evaluated by the
Corporation’s internal auditors, who report to the Audit Committee at least quarterly. The Audit Committee reviews and
makes a report to the Board before the approval of the annual and interim financial statements and Management’s
Discussicn and Analysis (MD&A).

The Audit Committee routinely meets with the internal and external auditors without management's presence.
During the year ended Novernber 30, 2004, the Audit Committee met four times.

Compensation Committee
The Compensation Committee has three members: William Morneau [Chair], David King and Winthrop H. Smith, Jr., all
of whom are ouiside and unrelated directors. The Compensation Committee reviews and approves executive officers’
base salaries, bonuses, long-term incentives, retirement benefits and other compensation. The Compensation Committee
also reviews processes and policies for establishing compensation and benefit levels, including the granting of stock
options. Directors are encouraged to own AGF Class B non-voting shares by participating in the AGF Share Purchase
Plan. Executive officers who are also directors do not receive any compensation for their services in their capacities as
directors. For further informnation, refer to AGF's Annual Information Form, which can be accessed at www.sedar.com.
During the year ended November 30, 2004, the Compensation Committee met five times.

Shareholder Communication

The Corperation believes that shareholder communication and feedback are essential. This belief is based on the stake
shareholders have in the Corporation’s business and the impartance to shareholders of ensuring that trading prices and
volumes of the Corporation’s Class B non-voting shares are not adversely affected by a lack of informaticen in the marketplace.
The Chief Executive Officer or another senior officer of the Corperation promptly responds to shareholder inquiries.

Code of Ethics

All directors, officers and employees cf the Corperation and its subsidiaries are subject to a Code of Ethics that outlines the
standards by which they must conduct themselves in their business dealings. Compliance with the Code is a matter of utmost
importance and a breach of any of its provisions is gfounds for a warning, revision of responsibilities, suspension or dismissal,
with or without notice, depending on the particular circumstances. The Code sets out specific rules dealing with conflicts of
interest, confidential information, insider trading, personal trading by investment managers and others with access to infor-
mation used in making investment decisions, and a variety of other matters. From time to time, as zppropriate, the Code

is supplemented by memoranda delivered to directors, officers and empleyees clarifying or expanding provisions of the

Code. All directors, officers and employees of the Corporation and its subsidiaries are required to review and sign the

Code of Ethics annually.
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